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XII. THE TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE TO INSTRUCT THE JUR
1T COULD:=NOT CONSIDER THE APPLICANT'S CONFESSION UNLSS 1o POUND
BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT IT WAS VOLUNTARILY MADE

FINDINGS OF FACT

1. Pursuant to the Supreme Court's holding in Jackson V.
Denno, 378 U.S. 368 (1964), the trial court conducted an extensive
hearing outside of the presence of the jury to determine whether
or not the Applicant's written statement was admissible in
evidence. '

“ 2, Pursuant to the Court of Criminal Appeals’ decision in
McRittrick v. State, 535 S.W.2d 873 (Tex.Crim.App. 1976), the
trial court filed findings of fact and conclusions of law in which
it concluded that the Applicant's written statement had been
freely and voluntarily made.

3. The court finds that although the Applicant's written
statement was admitted in evidence over defense counsel's
objections, no evidence was introduced before the jury that the
Applicant's written statement was not voluntary.

4. At the conclusion of the guilt or innocence stage of
the Applicant's trial, defense counsel did not request that the
trial court instruct the jury that they could not consider the
Aprlicant's written statement unless the found beyond a reasonable
doubt that the statement had been voluntarily made.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. Because defense counsel failed to request that the
trial court instruct the jury that they could not consider the
Applicant's written statement wunless they found beyond a
reasonable doubt that it had been voluntarily made, the Applicant
is procedurally barred from advancing this contention. Ex parte
Coleman, supra. ;

2., Evidence presented by the State in anticipation of an
attack on the' voluntariness of a confession does not place the
voluntariness of that confession into issue. Moseley v. State,
696 S.W.2d4:934 (Tex.App.--Dallas, 1985). :

3. Regardless of defense counsel's procedural default, the
Court concludes that the Applicant was not entitled to a Jjury
instruction pursuant to Article 38,22, Section 6, V.A.C.C.P., as
to whether or not his written statement had been voluntarily made
inasmuch as the Applicant presented no evidence before the jury as
that his written statement had been involuntarily obtained so as
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to properlyvfaise this issue for the jury's ¢ : . i
v. State, 779 S.W.2d 809 (Tex.Crim.App, 19gy) . cration. White

-In seeking habeas corpus relief, the Applicant assumes

the burden of proving his factual allegations by a preponderance

of the evidence. Ex parte Castaneda, supra.

. 5, Because the Applicant has not demonstrated by a
preponderance of the evidence that he was entitled to a jury
charge instructing the' jury that they could not consider the
Applicant's written statement unless they found beyond a
reasonable doubt that the statement had been voluntarily made, the
Court recommends that habeas corpus relief as to this ground be
DENIED.

XIXI. THE UNCONSTITUTIONALITY OF THE SYSTEM FOR THE APPOINTMENT
OF COUNSEL FOR INDIGENT DEFENDANTS IN HARRIS COUNTY

FINDINGS OF FACT

. 1. The system for the appointment of counsel for indigent
defendants in Harris County pursuant to Article 26.04, V.A.C.C.P.,
did not impose any uniform minimum standards of competency for
appointed counsel and did not Impose any restrictions on the
volume of cases appointed counsel could handle.

2. Because the system for the appointment of counsel for
indigent defendants in Harris County is largely, if not
exclusively an arbitrary decision ard unreviewable decision made by
each of the individual criminal district judges, the quality of
appointed trial counsel in capital murder cases is a function of
whatever district court to which the case is assigned at random.

3. At the time of the Applicant's trial, defense counsel
were compensated only for actual court appearances and were not
directly compensated for out-of-court time devoted to activities
such as factual investigation of ' the case, 1legal research
regarding the controlling issues, or consultation with experts.

v CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

.;,.; Where a defendant seeks to ch%llenge the

' constitatiénality of a statute, -he assumes the - burden of

demonstrating how he, in particular, has been harmed by the
statute. Clark v. State, 665 S.W.2d 476 (Tex.Crim.App. 1984).

2. In a post-conviction writ proceeding where the
applicant seeks habeas corpus relief, neither the trial court nor
the Court of Criminal Appeals is authorized to enter a declaratory

-
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judgment, but may only inquire into the legality of the
applicant's restraint or confinement. Ex parte Herring, 271

3. While many things about the system
counsel for indigent defendants in capital muider c;§;sa§§°§:§:22
County may be in need of change, the Court concludes that the
relief which the Applicant seeks must be sought in-a civil rights
suit, see Preisser v, Rodriguez, 411 U.S. 475 (1973), and not in a
post-conviction writ proceeding such as this. See Ex parte
Brager, 704 S.W.2d 46 (Tex.Crim.App. 1986).

4. In seeking habeas corpus relief, the Applicant assumes
the buyrden of proving his factual allegations by a preponderance
of the evidence. Ex parte Salinas, supra.

5. Because the Applicant has failed to demonstrate by a
preponderance of the evidence that the alleged unconstitutionality
of the system by which counsel for indigent defendants in Harris
County are appointed is a claim upon which habeas corpus relief
may be granted, the Court recommends that habeas corpus relief as
to this ground be DENIED.

XiV. THE CONDUCT OF LEAD DEFENSE COUNSEL RON MOCK
FINDINGS OF FACT

1. During the jury selection phase of the Applicant's
trial, Ron Mock, lead defense counsel, was arrested on a contempt
of court citation for failing to timely file an appellate brief in
a capital case other than the Applicant's.

2. During his final argument to the jﬁry during the
punishment stage of the Applicant's trial, Mock acknowledged to
the jury that the reason that the proceedings were late in getting

"started was because of his tardiness. .

3. At the evidentiary hearing held in this case, Mock
admitted that “he had been cited by appellate courts some five
times for failing to timely file briefs in the time frame before,
during, and immediately after his representation of the Applicant
in the primary case. . ' : :

4, Mock attributed this to the large volume of cases that
he handled during this time frame as well as to the axiom that
"shit [sic] happens.”® -
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CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

“-“While Mock's conduct as set forth above i rtainl
something less than professional angd deserving of c;id::;ationf
the Court nonetheless concludes that it does not rise to that
level of conduct which prejudiced the Applicant's defense
Strickland v. .Washington, supra. PP ef

2. In seek%ng hapeas corpus relief, the Applicant assumes
the burden of proving his factual allegations by a preponderance .
of the evidence. Ex parte Salinas, supra, . '

.3+ Because the Applicant has failed to demonstrate by a
preponderance of the evidence that Mock's conduct as set forth
above denied him the effective assistance of counsel at his trial
in the primary case, the Court recommends that habeas corpus
relief as to this ground be DENIED.

XV. THE PROSECUTOR'S EQUATION OF THE MEANING OF *DELIBERATE®
WITH THE MEANING OF ®“INTENTIONAL"™ DURING HIS FINAL ARGUMENT
IN THE PUNISEMENT STAGE OF THE PRIMARY CASE

FINDINGS OF FACT

1, During his final argument in the punishment stage of
the Applicant's trial in the primary case, the prosecutor argued

.to the jury that, "In Special Issue No. 1, we have to show, in

addition to showing that the defendant acted intentionally, we
have to show you that he acted deliberately."

2. The prosecutor also argued to the jury that, "That's
the first bit of evidence that shows you he acted deliberately.
We already know he acted intentionally.* .

3. The prosecutor also argued to the jury that, "What does:
that tell you about the chances that he intended for Kall to have?
Be intended for Hall to have no chance, KEe intended for Hall to
die...Even if there is a possibility that you have a problem with
deliberate based on that evidence by itself, we went beyond that.”

7

4, ..Defense counsel did not object to any of the foregoing

final argument voiced by the prosecutor,

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. To the extent that defense counsel failed to object to
the prosecutor's final argument as set forth above, the Applicant
is procedurally barred from advancing this contention. Farris v,
State, supra. 784 S.W.,2d 5 (Tex.Crim.App. 1989).
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2. Notwithstanding defense counsel's fai j

; ] ilure to t to
the prosecutor's final argument, the Court concludes :ﬁgfcthis
argument=:was proper inasmuch as it constituted a reasonable
deduction from the evidence. Borjan v. State, supra.

'3. Because the prosecutor's argument was a reascnable
deduction from the evidence and not an attempt to impermissibly
equate a jury ‘finding of "intentional"™ in the guilt or innocence
stage ©f the trial with a finding of "deliberate" insofar as the
first special issue submitted during the punishment is concerned,
the Court concludes that the case at bar is distinguishable on its
facts from Lane v. State, 743 S.W.2d 617 (Tex.Crim.App. 1987).

o, In view of the fact that the prosecutorial argument
alluded to above was a reasonable deduction from the evidence, the
Court concludes that defense counsel's failure to ocbject to it did
not constitute deficient performance. Stafford v. State, supra.

5. Because defense counsel's failure to object to the
prosecutor's argument as set forth above was not deficient
performance, the Court concludes that it need not determine
whether trial counsel's conduct prejudiced the Applicant's
defense. Strickland v, Washington, supra.

6. In seeking habeas corpus relief, the Applicant assumes
the burden of proving his factual allegations by a preponderance
of the evidence. Ex parte Salinas, supra.

7. Because the Aprplicant has not demonstrated by a
preponderance of the evidence either that the prosecutorial
arcument alluded to above impermissibly equated the meaning of
"intentional" with the meaning of "deliberate,™ or that defense
counsel's failure to object to this argument denied him the
effective assistance of counsel, the Court recommends that habeas
corpus relief as to this ground be DENIED. ’

XVI, OTHER PURPORTED PAILINGS OF DBFéNSE COUNSEL
,DURING THE JURY SELECTION PROCESS

|
A, DEFENSE COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO INQUIRE OF THE PANELISTS
WHETHER THE DECEDENT'S RACE WOULD AFFECT THEIR IMPARTIALITY
' Z=Z: AT EITHER STAGE OF THE APPLICANT'S TRIAL o

FINDINGS OF FACT

1. °~ During the 'jury selection stage of the Applicant's
trial in the primary case, defense counsel did not attempt to
ascertain if the decedent's race would affect the veniremembers'
ability to be fair and impirtial at either stage of the

- proceedings.
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-corpus relief as to this ground be DENIED.

.. Lead defense counsel Ron Mock explained that he did not

“in“this type of inquiry as a result of his tri
~ 5 S, rate
never to use the "black man killing a white man tactictil = Y

3. Mock acknowledged, however, that depending upon the
facts and circumstances of a particular case, he might opt to use
this tactic. '

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. The United States Supreme Court has held that the a
capital murder defendant accused of an interracial crime is
entitled to have the prospective jurors informed of the race of
the victim and questioned on the issue of whether this fact will
affect their ability to be fair and impartial at either stage of
the proceedings. Turner v, Murray, 476 U.S. 28 {1986) .,

2., While it might have been prudent for defense counsel to
have inquired of the veniremembers whether the decedent's race
would have affected their ability to be fair ang impartial, the
Court concludes that defense counsel's failure to engage in this
inquire did not fall outside of the wide range of reasonable
professional assistance so as to constitute deficient performance.
Strickland v. Washington, supra; Stafford v. State, supra.

3. In seeking habeas corpus relief, the Applicant assumes
the burden of proving his factual allegations by a preponderance
of the evidence. Ex parte Alexander, supra.

4, Because the Applicant has not demonstrated by a
preponderance of the evidence that defense r~ounsel's failure to
inquire of the veniremembers whether the race of the decedent
would affect their ability to be fair and impartial denied him the
effective assistance of counsel, the Court recommends that habeas

B, DEFENSE; COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO OBJECT TO THE PROSECUTOR'S
EQUATION OF "DELIBERATE"™ AND ®INTENTIONAL®

FINDINGS OF FACT

*1;, .During the voir examination of veniremember Kraus, who
was eventually selected to sit on the jury, the prosecutor stated
without objection from defense counsel that the first special
issue that asked whether the defendant has acted "deliberately,®
essentially "[Alsks you the same thing you have answered during
the trial of the guilt-or-innocence stage."
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not think that a killing_could ever be reasonable.

2. Dﬁring the voir dire examination i ,

A of veniremember
Farrell5""who was eventually sat on the jury, defense counsel did
not object when the prosecutor defined "deliberate” as a "greater
conscious intent."

3. .Thg'COurt finds that no sound triail strategy could have
been served given defense counsel's failure to object to the
prosecutor's misstatement of the law. : '

CONCLUSIONS OF LawW

1. The Court concludes that defense counsel's failure to
objec¥ to the prosecutor's equation of "deliberate"™ with
"intentional®" was neither the result of reascnable professional
judgment nor a rational tactical decision and that defense
counsel's performance in this instance fell below an objective
standard of reasonableness. Black v. State, supra.

2. In light of the evidence adduced as to the Applicant's
deliberateness at both stages of the trial, the fact that the
prosecution did not argue in the punishment stage of the trial to
the jury that "deliberate" and !"intentional"™ were synonymous, and
that the  trial court correctly charged the jury on the law
applicable to the facts of the case, the Court concludes that the
Applicant has failed to show that but for trial counsel's failure
to object as set forth above, the jury would have answered the
first special issue in the negative. Black v. State, supra;
Motley v. State, 773 S.W.24 283 (Tex.Crim.App. 1989).

3. In seeking habeas corpus relief, the Applicant assumes
the burden of proving his factual allegations by a preponderance
of the evidence. Ex parte Alexander, supra. :

4. Because the Applicant has not demonstrated by a

preponderance of the evidence that defense counsel's failure to

object to the prosecutor's egquation of "deliberate" and
"intentional® denied him the effective assistance of counsel, the
Court recommends that habeas corpus relief as to this ground be

DENIED. v

% DEFENSE COUNSEL'S STATEMENTS TO VENIREMEMBERS
: THAT A KILLING COULD NEVER BE REASONABLE .

FINDINGS OF FACT

1.  In explaining the third special issue to prospective
jurors, defense counsel stated on several occasions that he did
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2. -Defense counsel noted that his stréteg in maki hese
as that he wanted the jurors to find g&m cred;:?étanda

comment$-wa
by association to find the Applicant credible.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. Given the broad presumption that defense counsel
rendered reasonable professional assistance, Duncan v. State, 717
S.W.2d 345 (Tex.Crim.App. 1986), the Court concludes that it
<cannot use hindsight to second guess a tactical decision made by a
trial attorney that does not fall below an objective standard of
reas?ngbleness. Butler v. State, 718 S.W.,2d 48 (Tex.Crim.App.
1986) .

2, While defense counsel's strategy 4in informing

- prospective jurors in a capital case that he did not believe,

within the meaning of the third special issue, that a killing
could ever be reasonable, might involve a calculated risk, cf.
Hernandez v. State, 726 S.W.2d 53 (Tex.Crim.App. 1986), the Court
concludes that it nonetheless did not fall below an objective
standard of reasonableness. Derrick v. State, 773 s.W.2d 271
(Tex.Crim.App. 1989). ’

3. In seeking habeas corpus relief, the Applicant assumes
the burden of proving his factual allegations by a preponderance
of the evidence. Ex parte Alexander, supra.

4. Because the Applicant has not demonstrated by a
preponderance of the evidence that defense counsel's statements
that he &id not believe that a killing coulé never be reascnable
denied him the effective assistance of counsel, the Court
recommends that habeas corpus relief as to this ground be DENIED.

D. DEFENSE COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO OBJECT
TO THE PROSECUTOR'S DEFINITION OF ®"PROBABILITY"

FINDINGS OF FACT
v .
1. ., During his voir dire examination of veniremerber
Goodner,. _who eventually sat on the jury, the prosecutor defined

""probabiIity"  without objection from defense counsel as "more

likely than not ... odds are ... a fifty-one percent chance.”

2. During his voir dire examination of veniremember
Farrel, who also sat on the jury, the prosecutor stated without
objection from defense counsel that the State could prove future
dangerousness by showing that the Applicant had a "propensity" for

committing violent crimes.
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CONCLUSIONS OF LawW

1. The Court of Crimial Appeals has consi .
because the term "probability" does not };i;:ni:y ::igutgiy
defm:t;on.i it is %f be taken and understood in its usual
acceptance in ,common language. Willjams v. State, 6
(Tex.Crim.App. 1984). . 674 S.W.,2d 315

2. The Court of Criminal Appeals has
definition of ‘'probability™ from Black's Law é%ﬁ%i?ingﬁ; tii
including: "likelihood; reasonable ground of presmption; a
condition or state when there is more evidence in favor of the
existehce of a given proposition than there is against it."
Cuevas v. State, 742 S.W.2d 331 (Tex.Crim.App. 1987).

3. In light of the defintion of "probability" sanctioned
by the Court of Criminal Appeals in Cuevas v, State, supra, the
Applicant could not have been prejudicea by the prosecutor's
definition of "probability" and defense counsel was not derelict
in failing to object to the prosecutor's comments. Motley v.
State, supra; Stafford v. State, supra. [

4. In seeking habeas corpus relief, the Applicant assumes
the burden of proving his factual allegations by a preponderance
of the evidence. Ex parte Salinas, supra.

5. Because the Applicant has not demonstrated by a
preponderance of the evidence that that defense counsel's failure
to obiect to the prosecutor's definition of "probability" denied
him the effective assistance of counsel, the Court recommends that
habeas corpus relief as to this ground be DENIED,

E. DEFENSE COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO OBJECT TO THE
PROSECUTOR'S MISSTATEMENT CONCERNING THE LAW OF PARTIES

FINDINGS OF FACT

1. During his voir dire examination of veniremember Evans,
who did not serve on the jury, the prosecutor pointed out that the
law of parties did not apply at the punishment stage of the trial
and could npot be used to answer the three special issues. ‘

2. The prosecutor told Evans that if the State used the
law of parties to convict the Applicant, she could not answer the
three special issues in the affirmative unless. "[T]he State
presented evidence that showed that those three special issues
should be answered yes..."
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CONCLUSIONS OF LaAW

1. The Court concludes, contrary to the Applicant's
assertion, that the prosecutor's comments correctly explained the
operation of the law of parties and how this principle could not
be used during the punishment stage in answering the three special
issues. Green v. State, supra; Nichols v. State, supra.

2. Because the prosecutor's explanation as to the
operation of the law of parties was a correct statement of the
law, defense counsel had no duty to voice an ocbjection to the
prosecutor's remarks. Stafford v. State, supra.

3. In seeking habeas corpus relief, the Applicant assumes
the burden of proving his factual allegations by a preponderance
of the evidence. Ex parte Maldonado, supra.

4. Because the Applicant has not demonstrated by a
preponderance of the evidence that defense counsel had a duty to
object to the prosecutor's explanation as to the operation of the
law of parties, the Court recommends that habeas corpus relief as
to this ground be DENIED,

F. DEFENSE COUNSEL'S "CURSORY"™ REHABILITATION
OF VENIREMEMBER LOUIS MCDANIELS

FINDINGS OF FACT

1. During the State's voir dire examination of
veniremember Louis McDaniels, McDaniels stated that he would be
unable to "take an cath and participate™ in a capital murder
trial or otherwise render a true and impartial verdict. ’ ‘

2., After the State challenged'Daniels for cause, Daniels
told defense counsel that he could not make a fair and impartial
cdetermination of guilt or innocence in a capital case and that his
feelings about the death penalty would substantially impair his
ability to abide by his ocath to be a fair and impartial juror.

353-At the conclusion of defense counsel's examination, the

trial court granted the State's challenge for cause to Daniels.
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
1; It is clear that the State may challénge for cause a

prospective juror who makes it clear that their views about
capital punishment will prevent or substantially impair the

.performance of their duties as a juror in accordance with their

instructions and oath. Adams v. Texas, 448 U.S. 38 (1980).
92




1
J

)

Bl
i einet

i
R —

sy

c— 7 —

-

c289

C290

C291

c292

C293

2. Consistent with this notion, venir
. . : ememb ls
rade it. .unmistakably clear during bOth'the State'seisuizsgfeas

-defense counsel's voir dire examination that his views on capital

punishment were such that the State's challen
founded., Briddle v. State, 742 S.W.2d 379 (Tg:.ggim?:;:? :;;SYSII

3. In view of McDaniels' clear and unambigu 5
about the death penalty, defense counsel's tacticgacgchfﬁifngo
forego any prolonged attempt at rehabilitating the veniremember
did not fall below an objective standard of reasonableness.
Derrick v. State, supra. :

o 4, Because defense counsel's decision to forego any
prolonged attempt at rehabilitating Veniremember McDaniels was not
deficient performance, the Court concludes that it need not
determine whether defense counsel's conduct prejudiced the
Applicant. Motley v. State, supra.

5. 1In seeking habeas corpus relief, the Applicant assumes
the burden of proving his factual allegations by a preponderance

of the evidence. Ex parte Alexander, supra,

6. Because the Applicant has not demonstrated by =a
Freponderance of the evidence that dJdefense counsel's "cursory"
rehabilitation of veniremember McDaniels denied him the effective
assistance of counsel, the Court recommends that habeas corpus
relief as to this ground be DENIED.

G. - DEFENSE COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO OBJECT TO THE
PROSECU?OR'S *TRIVIAL EXAMPLE®™ OF A DELIBERATE ACT

FINDINGS OF FACT

1. During his examination of a number of veniremembers

“including John Olden, who was eventually seated on the jury, the

prosecutor attempted. to characterize the difference between
"intentionally" and "deliberately," which the prosecutor noted
"mean[t] just a little bit more than intentionally," by using the
example of a veniremember being bitten an insect.

2.:=-Without objection from defense counsel, the prosecutor

‘charactérized a veniremember immediately striking an insect that

was biting them on the arm as engaging in an "intentional" act
while characterizing a veniremember who felt another insect biting
them on the leg and who drew back their hand, took aim, and then
smashed the insect as engaging in a "deliberate™ act, an act
encompassing a "more conscious intent® than merely an
"intentional" act.
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CONCLUSIONS OF LAwW \

1. Regardless of the purportedly "trivial® example the
prosecutor wutilized to explain the distinction between an
"intentional® act and a "deliberate" act, the Court concludes that
the prosecutor's example was an essentially correct statement of
the law in that it apprised the veniremembers that a finding that
the two words were not "linguistic equivalents." Heckert v,
State, 6123 S.W.2d 549 (Tex.Crim.App. 1981).

2. The Court also concludes that the prosecutor's example
was egsentially a correct statement of the law that made it clear
that a veniremember's finding. that act was "deliberate™ required
more than just a ratification of their earlier finding that an act
was "intentional." James v. State, 772 S.W.2d 84 (Tex.Crim.App.
1989).

3. The Court concludes that while the prosecutor's example
of distinguishing betweeen "deliberate" and "intentional” conduct
may ‘indeed have been trivial, defense counsel's tactical decision
not to object to the use of this example did not fall below an
objective standard of reasonableness. Derrick v. State, supra.

4. Because defense counsel's decision not to object to the
prosecutor's exarmple was not d&eficient performance, the Court
concludes that it need not determine whether defense counsel's
conduct prejudiced the Applicant., Motley v. State, supra.,

5. 1In seeking habeas corpus relief, the Applicant assumes
the burden of proving his factual allegations by a preponderance
of the evidence. Ex parte Salinas, supra.

6. Because the Applicant has not dJdemonstrated by a
preponderance of the evidence that defense counsel's failure to
object to the prosecutor's "trivial example" of a deliberate act
denied him the effective assistance of counsel, the Court
concludes that habeas corpus relief as to this ground be DENIED,

l;
H. DEPENSE COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO OBJECT TO THR
PROSECUTOR'S COMMENT REGARDING INCOMPLETE CONFESSIONS

FINDINGS OF FACT

l.. During his voir dire examination of veniremember Glen
Herron, who was eventually seated on the jury, the prosecutor
described his right to use an incomplete confession in which he
was able to omit those portions that were inconsistent with his

_ theory of the case.
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2. The'prosecutor then informed Herron withou j i
t objection
from defense counsel that, "[I]f the defense wants to, tgey can
offer the -remainder of the confession into evidence because they
may say, well, we believe that portion of the confession."

3. The prosecutor then secured a commitment from Herron
that he would ‘not hold it against either the State or the defense
if either side opted not to introduce the entire confession. '

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. The Court concludes that the prosecutor's comments that
the State is allowed to introduce part of a statement or
confession and that the defendant, if he wishes, may then
introduce the remainder of the statement of confession, was an
essentially correct statement of the law. Adams v. State, 685
S.W.24 661 {(Tex.Crim.App. 1885).

2. While the prosecutor's comment that the defense is free
to introduce the remainder of confession is they "believe that
portion of the confession"™ may have been improper as suggesting
that the defense had some duty to bring forward the remainder of
the confession, the Court concludes that defense counsel's failure
to object to it did not fall below an objective standard of
reascnableness. Derrick v. State, supra.

3. In view of the fact that the jury was charged at both
stages ©of the trial that the burden of proof was on the State and
never shifted to the defense, even if defense counsel's failure to
object to the prosecutor's comment could be viewed as deficient
performance, the Court concludes that the Applicant was not
prejudiced as a result of this conduct. Black v. State, supra,

4. In seeking habeas corpus relief, the Applicant assumes
the burden of proving his factual allegations by a preponderance
of the evidence., Ex parte Salinas, supra. ’

5. Because the Applicant has not demonstrated by a
preponderance ,of the evidence that defense counsel's failure to
object to the '‘prosecutor's comments regarding the introduction of
the remainder of a confession denied him the effective assistance
of coungel; the Court recommends that habeas corpus relief as to

this grounds be DENIED.
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XVII. CONCLUSION
In concluding that the Applicant was denied the effective
assistance of counsel, this Court is not unmindful of the fact
that the right to counsel as embodied in both the Sixth Amendment‘
ot the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 10 of the
Texas ‘Constitution, does not mean errorless counsel or counsel
whose competency or adeguacy is to be judged by hindsight. Mercado

v. State, 615 S.W.2d 225 (Tex.Crim.App. 1981)., Nor is this Court

unaware that the adequacy of an attorney's services must be gauged

by the totality of the representation, Ex parte Raborn, 658 S.W.2d

602 (Tex.Crim.App. 1983), rather than by isolated acts or

omissions of trial counsel. Wilkerson v State, 726 S.W.2d 542

(Tex.Crim.App. 1986).
Because the fact that another attorney might have pursued
a different course of action at trial will not in and itself

support a finding of ineffectiveness, Passmore V. State, 617

‘ns.w.zd 682 (Tex.Crim.App. 1881), this Court has carefully heeded
the admonition of the United States Supreme Cou:ﬁ that: |

"A fair assessment of attorney performance
requires that every effort be made to
...eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight,
. ##§o reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's
. challenged conduct, and to evaluate the
‘eonduct from counsel's perspective at the time

of trial." - : :

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 689 (1984).

96




i1

—

—

But a careful reading of this record readily reveals that
performance deficient, it was only because trial counsel was
either unable .to articulate any trial strategy at all for their

conduct, see Ex parte'Duffx. 607 S.W.2d8 507 (Tex.Crim.App. 1980),

or because their self-professed trial strategy was so far beyond
the pale that it did not fall within "the wide range of reasonable

professional assistance."  Strickland v. Washington, supra, at

690. While appellate courts should not be free to second-guess
trial strategy that does not fall outside of this professional

norm, Motley v. State, 773 S.W.2d 283 (Tex.Crim.App. 1989),

neither can trial counsel insulate their otherwise unprofessional

conduct from appellate review by blithely denominating it as a

"strategic, albeit inane, trial tactic."™ Lyons v. McCotter, 770

F.2d 529, 533 (5th Cir. 1985).

In reviewing this record, this Court has not only téken

great care to consider the totality of the represehtation afforded
the Applicant but the totality of the evidence before the jury at
both stages of the trial as "a verdict or conclusion only weakly

supported by the record is more likely to have been affeéted by
- t . .

érrors than one with overwhelming record support."™ Ex parte

Guzmon, ©730 S.Ww.2d 724, 734 (Tex.Crim.App. 1987), quoting

Strickland Q. Washington, supra, at 696. It is precisely because

the evidence at the Applicant's trial as to whether or not he

fired the fatal shot was not overwhelming that a reasonable
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probabilty exists that trial counsel's deficienéies at the very

least affected the outcome of the punishment stage of the

Applicant's trial. Ex parte Guzmon, supra; Ex parte Walker, 777

S.W.2d 427 (Tex.Crim.App. 1989); Ex parte Welborn, 78g—s.w.2d 391
(Tex.Crim.App. 1990). |

While thié Court's review and ultimate disposition of the
issue of whether the Applicant was afforded the effective
assistance of counsel has been guided by a faithful adherence to
both the law and the record, the ultimate focus of its inquiry.

like the ultimate aim of the criminal justice system itself, has

been - fundamental fairness. Ex parte Adams, 768 S.W.2d 281, 293

(Tex.Crim.App. 1889). As the Court of Criminal Appeals has only

recently reaffirmed:

"Due process of law is the cornerstone of a
civilized system of justice. Our society wins
not only when the guilty are convicted but
when criminal trials are fairs; our system of
justice suffers when an accused is treated

unfairly."

Ex parte Brandley, 781 S.W.2d 886, 894 (Tex.Crim.App. 15839).

and throughout eﬁery phase of this 'post—tonviction
proceedlng, the Court has taken great pains to heed the words of

Mr. Justice Frankfurter that:

:-"The nature of the duty of [judicial review]
“makes it especially 1mportant to be humble in -
-exercising it. Humility in this context means
an alert self-scrutiny so as to avoid infusing
1nto the vagueness of a Constitutional command
~one's merely private notions.” .

Haley v. Ohio, 332 U.S. 596, 602 (1948):
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In ?ischarging its duty in this case, the Court's only
concern w;;?:that the conclusion that it .reaches and the
recommendation that it makes be correct and that it be in keeping
with the due Aadministration of the law and the preservation of
life and liberty., as guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment to the
United States Constitution and Article I, Section 19 of the

Constitution of the State of Texas.' Cf, Purcell v. State, 322

S.W.2d 268, 278 (Tex.Crim.App. 1958) (Davidson, J., concurring).
Although this Court does not have the power to grant final
relief to the Applicant pursuant to Article 11.07, V.A.C.C.P., Ex

barte Williams, 561 S.W.2d 1 (Tex.Crim.App. 1978), it does have

the power to recommend to the Court of Criminal Appeals that there
has been a breakdown in the adversarial process sufficient to
undermine confidence in the outcome of these proceedings, Ex parte

Guzmon, supra, at 735, and this Court so recommends.

XVIII. ORDER
Having considered the evidence and exhibits offered by the
parties and in light of the foregoing Findings of Fact and
Conclhsions ofhpaw, it is the opinion of the Special Magker that
the relief pray%d for by the Applicant in this case.be GRANTED.

DONE-and ENTERED this 2nd day of October, 1991.

. :'.li (_’;///'
THE HONORABLE B?}AN W. WICE

‘_SPECIAL MASTER
“S339%%, CRIMINAL DISTRICT COURT

HARRIS CO Y, TEXAS
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ORDER

On this 14th day of October, 1991, having reviewed the
above and forégoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, the
Court hereby adopts same and recommends to the Texas Court of
Criminal Appeals that the relief prayed for in this case be
GRANTED, and that the Applicant be afforded a new’trial.

It is further ORDERED that the Clerk prepare a transcript
of all papers filed in this cause and transmit same to the Court
of Crimiral Appeals as provided for by Article 11.07, V.A.C.C.P.,

consisting of the following documents:

-1, all of the Applicant's pleadings filed in
cause no. 401695-A, including his Petition for
Writ of Habeas Corpus and his Amended Petition
for wWrit of Habeas Corpus:

2. the Respondent's Original Answer in cause
no. 401695-A;

3. these Findings of Fact and Conclusions of
law prepared by the Special Master and hereby
adopted by this Court:

4. any Proposed Findings of Fact and
Conclusions of 1law submitted by either the
Applicant or the Respondent;

5. the Order of this Court appo:nt;ng BRIAN
W WICE as the Special Master in this cause;

St the nine .volumes, including exhibits, of
_the statement of facts from the evzdent:ary
hearing held in cause no. 4016S85-A;

7. the appellate record in State of Texas V8.
John Dale Henry, cause no. 405136, unless it
had been previously forwarded to the Court of"

Criminal Appeals;
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=B the clerk's transcript apg stétement of
-facts in cause no. 401695, the Primary case,
unless it has been Previously forwarded to the
Court of Criminal Appeals; ang "
9. the sealed State's file, excluding the
voir dire, in cause No. 401695, the Primary
case. ,
It is further ORDERED that Copies of
Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order of the Court be serveqd on

Counsel for the Applicant, Barry Abrams, ang Counsel for the
Respondent, and Roe Wilson, in o°Pen court on the 14th day of
—

October, 1991,

N
Presiding Judge
339th Criminal District Court
Harris County, Texas
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FINDINGS OF FACT

TAB1
= FINDING PAGE NO. PARAGRAPHNO. | RECORD REFERENCE
. F246 56 1 SF VII, 16-150
F59 14 1 SF1, 176
F60 14 2 AX 51
F61 15 3 SF1, 146
| F62 15 4 SF1, 146
F63 15 5 SF1, 146
2 Fo4 15 6 SF VI, 57
F65 15 7 SF I, 158-59/SF II, 43/ SF
| I, 216
| F66 15 8 SF VII, 26-30
| F67 15 9 SF I, 112-13
o F68 15 10 SF1I, 26-30
F69 15 11 AX 51/SF VI, 67-68
F70 15 12 SF1, 152-53
. 11 16 | 13 AX 18/SFII, 69
— F72 16 | 14 AX 18
] F73 16 15 AX 20/SF VI, 80-81
| F74 16 16 SF III, 146/AX 19
F75 16 17 AX 19 |
) F76 16 i3 AX 52
1 ) F77 16 19 | ax41
- F18 16 20 SF1, 88-89/SF 11, 17, 75,
? 90
W» o o Fe 16 v | 21 SF1, 68-79
F80 16 %) SFI, 165
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FINDING PAGENO. | PARAGRAPHNO. | RECORD REFERENCE
F81 17 23 SF VII, 30-34
F82 17 24 SF 1, 126
F83 17 25 SFI, 126 -
F84 17 26 SF1, 144
F85 17 27 SF1I, 115
F86 17 28 SF 11, 115-16
F87 17 29 SF 1, 193/SE II 90, 12,
132
F88 17 30 SF VI, 145-46
F89 17 31 SF VI, 144
F90 18 32 SF VII, 35-38
Fo1 18 33 SF III, 196-254
F92 18 34 SF III, 224
F93 18 35 SF III, 208-14
F94 18 36 SF III, 215-17, 247-50
F95 18 37 SF III, 214-15, 233-34
F96 19 38 SF VII, 5-15
F97 19 39 SF VIII, 11-12/SF 111, 231
Fo8 19 40 { SF V11, 9-10 |
F99 19 41 SF III, 241-42
F100 19 42 SF III, 216/SF VI, 8-9
F101 19 43 SF III, 251-52
F102 19 44 SF III, 252
F103 19 45 SR
F104 20 46 SF VII, 35-38
F105 20 47 SF VII, 24-38




FINDING PAGENO. | PARAGRAPHNO. | RECORD REFERENCEJ
| F106 20 48 SF VII, 24-45
B F2310 52 1 S
52? ' F2311 52 2 SF 1, 88-89
_\ F2312 52 3 SF 1, 88-89
F2313 52 4 SF1, 126
; F2314 53 5 SF1, 126
; F2315 53 6 SF1, 144
4 F2316 53 7 SF 111, 75-85, 104-112
i F2317 53 8 SF 111, 75-85, 104-112
4 F2318 53 9 SF 11, 75-85, 104-112
F240 53 10 SF VII, 104-112
E F241 53 11 SF VII, 104-112
| | F242 54 12 SF VII, 104-112
F243 54 13 SF VII, 104-112
F244 54 14 SF VII, 104-112
| F245 54 15 SF VI, 104-112
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jsaiinas. supra;, the
_'Tnecfective assistance of
evidence.

_recommends that habeas corpus re

J. APPLYING THEE *TOTALITY OF THKE REPRP .
TEST TO THE FACTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES OF razkxggigéiigvs CASE

PINDINGS OF FACT

:. _' bod :_I‘,e. :,,Lez es: o )UG‘CIHI ecc:ﬂoﬂy the ( 01"t !-eveb:y
o ' g t}. r' d' s
)—.C - es h .Q.Eoe-lce a »oiCh & TeAZ an

e e

Sections A, B, C, G, H, anc I, supra.
CONCLUSIONS OF 1AW

;. Tre Six:§ A-encment to the United States Ccnstituticn
né A:t;;le I, Secticn 10 cf the Texas Constituticn entitle the
sccused in a criminal ca2se to the rezscnably effective assistance

cf ccunsel, Ex parte Duffy, supra,

2. The afeguacy of counsel's 2ssistance is tested by the
.totality of the rerresentation, rather than by isoclated acts or
Cmiss:cns cf trial counsel cor by isolating or serparating out one
perticn of trial counsel's performance for examipaticn. Bridge v,
tate, 725 S.wW.2d 558 (Tex.Crim.App. 158B6). s -_—

3., While the Ccurt of Crimiral Apreals kas held that scme
igalated crmissicns may 50 affect the cutcome cf a particular case
as to uncermine the reliability of the proceedings, see MHay v.
State, 722 S.wW.28 6935 (Tex.Crim.App. 15B84), the Applicant nas
Sescrstrated pumerous errors and omissions on trial counsel's part
during every stage of his trial 2s set forth abcove, the cumulative
effect of which clearly prejvéiced the Applicant so as to lead
tris Court to conclude that he was cenied the reasorably effective

assistance of counsel. cf. Weathersby v. State, supra. ("The
impact in this case of the numerous such geraults” compels a
Williamson v. State,

finding that counsel was ineffective.)s
supra. ("We cannot overlook thke nurber &nd sericusness of
courcel's deficiencies."); Riascos v. State, supra, (*"The
cumulative effect of [counsel's] errcrs 1is cutrazgecusS... )7 Miller
v. State, supra. ("[W]ithout trial counsel's many erross, a
TYeascreo,e prcecenility exists that the outcome could have Leen

diffecernt.").

4. As in a1l pos:-con;iction writ matters, Ex parte
Applicant bYears the burden of ™ proving

counsel by a preponderance of the
Moore v. State, 694 S.W.2d 528 (Tex.Crim.App. 1585).

s. Because - the Applicant Dhas Semonstrated by a
preponcerance of the evidence that when the totality of defense
is examined, the

counsel's rep-esentation as set forth above . € :
rurber and sericusness ©f counsel's deficiencies agd t@e
concomitant prejudice the Applicant suffered thereby denied him

the reasonably effective assistance of coursel, the Court
lief in this regard be GRANTED.
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F59

F&o

Fél

Fé2

FE3

Fé64

F&5

Fé6

F67

F68

" Fé9

F70

" testified for the State that the gun referred

B. 'DEFENSE COUNSEL'S FAILURE T0 OBrat)
A T
OF THE STATEMENT OPF FACTS FROM Tip oo . CR
ANC > CONSULT AN INDEPENDENT B, |

ITICAL PORTIONS
-DEFENDANT 'S TRIAL
LISTICS EXPERT

FINDINGS OF FaCT

1. ©On June 1, 1984, John Dale Benry w s 2 : ‘
felony cf{ensps of murder and azgravategd rgb;:;yI:?;Cteg :orrthe
Leen cormitted on or about April 13, 1984, ege © have

- 2. The State alleged that Kenry!’ ot
; ; : Y's vic \
case was Chester Hill and that his victim ;;ntgg ;hergngei
rebbery case was Debra Young. s ¢

3. On July 11, 1584, the Azrlicant was indicted
felony cffens; cf capital murder alleged to have been commiiiidt:;
c:.about April 13, 1984, arising out of the same transaction for
which John Dale Kenry had already been indicted. )

4. John Dale Fenry's trial for the offense of aggravatead
rctbery began in the 177th Crirminal District Court cgs Rarris
gg:gty. Texas, on January 23, 1985, and concluded on January 24,

5. Jchn Ceale Kenry was represented by Jim Skélton and the
State was rerresented by Jan Krocker,

6. Testimony in the Applicant's trial in the prirary case
€id rnot begin until May 6, 1985, .

7. Neither Ren Mock ror Frank Alvarez rade an attermpt to

either rperscnally attend the EKeary trial so that they could
acguzint tlremselves with the testimony of the same witrnesses who
wouic eventually testify at the Agpplicant's trial in the primary
case,

B. Neither Mecck nor Alvarez race accomodations for someone
e.se toc attend the trial in their 2tsence so that notes could be
tzken ¢f the testimony of those witnesses at the Eenry trial,

5. Neither Mock nor Alvarez filed a2 nmoticn with the trial
Juége in the primary case reguesting & copy of the transcript of
the testimony of the Stzte's witnesses 2t the Kenry trial so that
they could utilize it durirng the Applicant's trial. :

10. Tke Court finds that reasonably competent counsel would
rhzve tzken ,those steps necessary to have either personally
attended the Eenry trial, rmade acccrodaticns for someone to have
éone 50 in tleir -absence, or to obtained a ‘transcript of.‘ the
testimony of the State's witresses at the Kenry trial by filing a

< reguest for same with the trial judge in the primary case.

1. In ‘her opening statement to the Jury in the FKenry
trial, Jan Krocker told the jury that she believed the evicence
would show that the Applicant fired .38 caliter bullets at Frank

Kall, tLFe cececent.

12, - During the Kenry trial, firearms expert C.E. Anderson
to .at the

2pplicant's trial as State's Exhibit 17 could have either been a
.357, a .3B, or a .22. . ‘
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F72

F73

F74

F75

F76

F77

F78

F19°
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13, During the FKenry trial, Dedbra Youn the
eyewitne;s to testify for the State in both tg; Henr;nigijfvigg
the Applicant's trial, testified that she had prior experience and
fermiliarity with fireazrrms.

14. Ycung testified during the Kenry trial that gﬁg weapon
fired by the Applicant ermitted a big boom and that she had ;fen
fire coming out of the barrel when his gun was fired.

15. C.E. Andecson testified during the Kenry trial that a
.357 or a .38 caliber weapon usually makes more of a noise when it
is fired than & .22.

1§, During her final argument, Krocker told the fdury that
the evicence showed that the Aprlicant possessed a .357 or .38
caliber weapron as crppesed to & .22,

17. During the Eenry trial, FKarris County Sheriff's Deputy
Rltcn Eerris testified that roments after this offense, Debra
Young ra2d told him that the weapon that tre Applicant had thrust
irn her face "looked like a .357" and that Young had physically
icentified FKarris' .357 service revelver as looing like the weapon
that the Applicant had brancished, ‘

18. During the EKenry trial, FKarris County GSheriff's
Cetective Reomnie Phillips testified that Yecung rad told him that
the weapon which the Applicant had thrust in her face was a "big"®

wezpen which she "thought"™ was a ,357.

18, Testimeny at both the Fenry trial and the Applicant's
trial reveaied that although there were multiple shots fired by
the Azplicant, John Czle FKenry, and a third co-éefendant, Tyrone
Dunkar, who was killed curing the commission of this offense, the
éezth of Frank Kall was the result of a .22 bullet. '

20. Both the prosecutor and cefense counsel in the primary
case acreed that the issue of whether the Applicant was the
"tricger man® who fired the fatal ,22 caliber bullet which killed

Eall was a "life and death issue.®

21. Creasion of a reasonable doubt in the mind of a single

juror as to whether the 2Applicant possessed a .357 or a ,22
calibter wezpon during the commission of this offense would in all

probability have saved the Applicant's life,

22. The Applicant gave avthorities a written statement,

“admitted in evidence at the trial of the prirmary case, in which he

aédmitted, inter alfa, that he had a .22 caliber pistol that locked

=0
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F8l

F82

F83

F84

F85

F86

F87

F8s8

F83

like 2 cowbly's gun and that John Dale Henry h
Y- , o ad wh '
be 2 .38 caliber weapon during the ccmmissjé; of thiitoiﬁﬁiiied £e

23, In any criminal case but parej
penalty prosecutieon, it is incurdent fporflcduelfae?s}; i:our.aseiutg
cevelop a cchesive and plausible trial Strategy which at the ve
least is reascrnably calculated to obtain a negative answer to c;ﬁ
cf the special issues 50 as to save the defendant's life.

) ; 24. ﬁ?en gskedhto briefly describe his trial strategy
irscfar as acdvancing the contention that the Applica 3
trhe fatal shot, Mock noted that "I really didn't gf;e o::.:sld net

25. Mock then described his trial strategy in advancing the
ccntention that the Arrlicant did not fire the fatal shot as being
prexised on "confusion™ and "total][] speculation.”

26, When asked to reca2ll at the evidentiary hearing what
evicence existed at the time of the 2pplicant's trial what
eveicence existed that the Applicant did not fire the fatal shot,
Mock rezlied, "None."

z7. Frark Alvarez admitted that MNock never talked to him
abcut what treir trial strategy wculé ke in attempting to present
the Aprlicant’'s cdefernse in the prirmacy ca2se and that he and Mock
"fust started to trial."

2B. Because Alvarez had absclitely no experience in
cefending capital murder cases and lccked to NMock to formulate
wrztever trial stratecy the celense would advance, Alvarez noted
trat whatever trial strategy Mock seemed to possess "unraveled as

we went Eieng.”

29, Although neither Mock nor Alvarez had any expertise or
trairning in ballistics or the uvse of firearms, defense counsel did

not rzke arny effort to obtain the essistance of an independant .
~expert in the firearms and ballistics.

30. Although Mock noted that he did not seek the assistance
of such an expert because the defense had already used up the
$500.00 allotted to them to hire an investigator, Mock made no
effort to even attempt to ask the trial judge for additicnal funds
to hire a ballistics expert either informally or by written

‘motioen.,

31. The need for the defense to hire an independant expeft
in the field of ballistics and firearms wes unde:sco:gd by Mock's
testimony at the evidentiary hearing that he considered C.E.

(NN
coy
[N




B

£90

i
H
i

391

g2

94

"F95

93
.varying caliters,

A.,de-scn. the State's firea-ms and ba’l. 3 'S

A - - i Lo <-d38tics expez t a4s :he
the A,rlica.‘t'i tri‘lp Mock diagd ot wa ) e

N * * nt tD 3 i

4 . . ] ] $S Vlth the

32. In light of Mock's testimony that his

the Applicant's life rirged upen creating a :easonaiiilézibioi;a::
least one jurcr's mind that the Applicant did not fire the fatal
shot ard his decided unwillingness or inadility to adeguately
cress-examine C.E. Ancerson, the Court finds that Treasornably
competent counsel would have taken steps to obtain or at least
censult an independant ballistics expert, and that Mock's failure
to co sc was ceficient performance on his part. ’

33, After reviewing porticns ©f the statement of facts from
tothr the Fenry trial and the Aprlicant's trial as well as a nurnber
©of witness statements and repcrts from both trials, Floyd
McSenald, an expert in the area of firearms and ballistics who
relped train C.E. Anderscn, testified at the evicentiary hearing
2s tc a rnurter cf facts which he or any other firearms examiner
weuld have testified to at the Applicant's trial.

34, ‘cDcnald notel that tased upon the testimony from both
the Arrplicant's trial and the Eenry trial as to the the objective
sprpearance, scund and firing chazracteristics of the Applicant's
gun, it was "almecst ckvicus” that the Applicant rad fired a ,357
ristel céuring the commissicn of the primary offense as opposed to
trhe .22 caliter wezpen that killed the cecedent.

35, McOonald pointed cut that the weapon depicted in the
photocrazh éémitted at the Arrlicant's trial &s State Exhibit 17
coulé not be readily icdentified frcm the sice as a .22 and that
virtually icdentical mocels cf the seme weapecn are ranufactured in
including a .357 mocel that looks icentical to a

.22 wken viewed from the side,

36. icDorald stated that' Debra Young's testimony at the
Eenry trial that the weapon fired by the Applicant emitted a big
boorm and that she had seen fire coming out of the barrel -when the
weapon was fired w2s objectively inconsistent with the Applicant's

weapon having been a .22,

37, McDonald noted that Deputy Dickey showing his .357
revoiver to Debra Young moments after this cffense, a weapon yhich
Young told Dickey looked like the weapon the Applicant had fired,
was a nmore accurate means of icdentifying the weapon than Young
rerely observing a side view of the weapon in a photographic

array.
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38. McDonald examined C.E. Andersern’ '
. A Nyl <>CL 5 report ncerni
physical charcacteristics of the bullet that k:;nedc‘-":;:-g::gdthg
and used that information in conjunction with th eden
F9€ regarding firear: - ith the CLIS Manual
gas ¢ firearms measurements to determine the type or type of
wezpons which could have firel the fatal bullet. s

35, As a result of Lis research, McDona
the ?uge: .22 depicted in S:tate's Exhidbit 17 .gdaﬁzniiiiiiagtfz
F97 trial could not have fired the bullet that killed the cecedent
because the nusber of lands and grooves on that bullet did not
mqtchl the nurber of 1lands and groves created by a Ruger .22
pistol,

40. As 2 result of his research, McDonald concluded that no
ccwkoy-style pistol ccmmenly available in the Hecuston area could
Lave fired the ltullet that killed the decedent inasmuch as the

F98 ccmmonly availatle .22 weapens that could have fired the murder

LYY

tuiiet &id not ook like cewbey-style weapons., -

) 41, McDerald noted that netwithstanding the fact thét the
ant admitted having a2 cowboy-style .22 caliker wezpon in his

rrpliic
written statement, he was ncnethless ccnvinced that the Aprclicant
F99 in fac:t Lhaé a .357 in 1light of the uncontrcverted physical
evicdence buttressing this cornclusion.
£2. McDcnalé presised this belief irnitially on the sound
that Cetra Ycung attributed to the weapen the 2Applicant fired
F100::a§:ucb as the scunéd cf a .337 is "many degress of magnitude
lcuder tran a .22. ‘
43, Mcocrnalé aliso prenmised this relief on the fact that the
trziectory cf the .38 caliber slugs found at the scene could be
F101tra:ei b§;k'to the pcint where Cetrd Young testified the Applicant
wzs stanéing. :

24, McDonald also prermised this belief on Young's testimony

trat the wezpons used by Durntar and Kenry were "little bitty guns®
F102while the wezpon fired by the Applicant was a "big" gun and that
as McDonald noted, "There is no such thing as a little bitty

#357.%

45. The statement of facts from the Applicant's trial on
the primary case reflects that Mock only asked C.E., Anderson four
‘ questions on cross-examination and did not encomgass any of the
F103,:625 touched upon by McDornald at the evidentiary hearing that
would have Leen consistent with and supportive of the notion that
rezscrzble doubt existed as tc whether the Applicant did not fire

the .22 bullet that killed the cecedent. B
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é6. The Court £inds that absen i

%ndependent' ballistics expert, defens: izin::;zsézgge :g;l;n
irncapadle cf presenting the jury with that evidence alluded to by
Floyd McDonald at the. evidentiary hearing, evidence which waz
otherwise available to them and evidence that was reascnably
calcu}ateé to create a reasonable doubt in the minds of at least
one juror that the Applicant did not fire the .22 bullet that
killed the decedent.

47. The Court further finds that in view of defense

coursel's fajlure to monitor the trial of John Dale Eenry so as to
fariliarize themselves with the testimony of the State's witnesses
©r to ctherwise obtain a transcript of their testimony for use at
the Arplicant's trial, and given defense counsel's fallure to
obtain the eassistance ©f an independent ballistics expert to
aceguately 2ssist them in presenting that evidence before the jury
which wzs 2itogether likely to create a reasonable doubt that the
Arpiicant fired the fatal shot in the primary case, defense
coursel'’'s purported investigation of the facts in the primary case
was 50 irzieguate as to be outsice the wide range of profesionally
ccopetent assistance.

48. In view of their failure to adequately investigate the
B ¢f thre primary case, cefense counsel's resultant trial
tegy ¢f "cenfusion” end "speculation®™ was not, in fact, sound
. Btraztegy ané was tantamount to no trial strategy at all,

-
-
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CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. It is well settled that a criminal cefense attorney
rust have a firm command of the facts of the case before Le can
render reascrnatly effective assistance of counsel,. ‘Butler wv,
State, 716 S.wW.2¢ 4B (Tex,Crim.Azp. 1586). ,

2. Defense counsel ras the responsibility of conducting an
indeperndant irvestigation of the facts of his client's case and
this burden ray not be delegated to an investigator. Ex parte
Bwing, 570 S.W.2d4 541 (Tex.Crim.App. 1878).

3. A natural consequence of this notion'is.that defense
counsel has a responsibility to seek out and interview potential

witnesses and the failure to do so will result in a finding that_

counsel kas been ineffective where a viable deferse available to
tke accused has not been advanced., Ex parte Duffy, 607 S.E.Zd 507

(Tex.Crim.App. 1580]}.

4. Defense counsel has a professional duty to present all
available testimony and other evidence calculated to support the
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cefense of his client, Thomas v, .
(Tex.Crim.App. 1577). - State., 550 s.w.2a8 64

A 5. To successfully advance the cont 3 i
couvnsel were i{neffective, the Arslicant mziizﬁge;g:f::::: t:é:i
ccunsel's failure to adeguately investigate the facts of his case
2s well as their failure to obtain the assistance of an
{ndepegdant ballistics expert to assist them in presenting their
cefensive theory to the jury was deficient in that these failures
neigher fell within tht;1 wide range o©f reasonable professicnal
gssistance ner were the art of a
e v et o :Lp;:. sound trial strategy.

6. trategic choices made by defense counsel after
thorough investigation of law and facts relevant to plausible
crticns are virtually unchallengeatble and strategic choices made
after less than ccrplete investigation are reasonable precisely to
the extent that reasonable professional judgments support the
licitations on investigation. Strickland v, washington, Bupra.

LIFESLS BACCEC) .

7. Consistent with these noticns, defense counsel has a
duty to make reascrnatle investigations or to rake a reasonable
cecision that makes particular investigations unnecessary.
Strickland v. Washington, supra. '

B. while the Applicant must overcome the strong
presuspticn that under the fzcts and circumstances of this case,
ceferse counsel's conduct as set forth above might be considered
scund trial strategy., Strickland v. Washington, supra, it may not
e argcued that a given course of conduct was within the. realm of
trial strategy unless and until cefense coursel has conducted the
recessary legal and factual investigaticn which would enable him
to raxe an informed raticnal decision. Ex parte Welborn, supra.

S. Because cefense counsel has a duty to bring to bear
such skill and knowledge as will render the trial a "reliable
adversarial testing process,” Strickland v. Washington, supra, the
Court concludes that defensé counsel's faijure to adeqQuately
investigate the facts of the prirmary case and their concomitant
faijlure to obtain the assistance of an indépendant ballistics
expert to assist them in presenting their defensive theory to the
jury fell outside of the wide range of professionally corpetent
assistance, Butler v. State, supra, and cannot be fairly viewed as

sound trial strategy. Ex parte Duffy, supra. ~

““30. The Supreme Court has long recognized that when a State
brings its judicial power to bear in a criminal proceeding, it
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rust take steps to asure that the cefendant has a fa:
: . - - - - r
tc presert hig defense. Ake v. Oklaboma, 470 U.S. 68 lggggffunity

. 9. Cecnsistent with this notion, the Suprem o
t;at when an indigent cdefendant rakes a p:elf;in:;fogggw?:: tgi:
kis sanity at the time of the offense is to be a significant
factor at trial, the State must assure the defendant access to a
ccompetent psychiatrist who will conduct an appropriate examination
end assist in evaluaticn, preparation, and presentation of the
cefense., Ake v, Oklahoma, supra.

10, While the appointment ©f an expest witness under
Article 26,05, V.A.C.C.P., rests within the socund discretion of
the trial court,. Quin v, State, 608 S5.W.2d 937 (Tex.Crim.App.
15€0), the trial court atuses its discretion in failing to appoint
such an expert when the cdefencant has made a phowing that he will
e harmed by the trial court's refusal to do so. Stoker v, State,
788 S.W.2¢8 1 (Tex.Crim.App. 1589). , —

11, Although reascnably cempetent defense counsel would
rave rcea2Zily seen the reec fcr the appcintment of an independant
tallistics expert tD assist them in presenting their defensive
thecry, cefernse ccunsel in the primary case rade no effort all to
reguest the appcintment of such an expert or to ctherwise present
&= preserve evidence in the record as to the harm or injury the
}prlicant weculdé suffer in the absence c©f such an appointment.
See Barney v. State, 698 S.wW.2d 114 (Tex.Crim.App. 1585).

12. The Court concludes that reascnably competent defense
ccunsel wouldé have taken these steps necessary to timely agprise
the trial Sudge of their need for expert assistance in the area of
tallistics, see Green v. State, €82 S§S.wW.2d 271 (Tex.Crim.App.
1¢84), and inh the event ©f zn acverse ruling, presented evidence
ir the record of harm ané injury so as to preserve this issue for
a=ce.i2te review, see Phillips v. State, 701 S.wW.2d8 875

&rr
(Tex.Crim.App. 1585).

13. While defense counsel might well have believed that any
request for the appointment of a Lallistics expert to assist them
in presenting their defensive theory of the case might have been
fruitless, they nonetheless had the professional cbligation to
bring this request to the attention of the trial court as their
fear of having the trial court overrule their request did not
justify their failure to obtain an adverse ruling, or any ruling
at all, on their request. See Mitchell v. State, 762 S.wW.24 S16

(Tex.App.--San Antonie, 1988).
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4. The Court concludes that
cognsel's failure to adeguately 1nve::?;.t2 iZZUIgac:i d;fe:;e
prirary case and their conconmitant failure to obta;; th:
assistance .of an indepencant ballistics expert, defense counsel
was limited to defending the Aprlicant through cress-examination
rather than presenting a cohesive and pPlausible defensive‘theory
Ex parte Ybarra, 625 S.w.22Q $¢3 (Tex.Crim.A;p. 1982). )

€56

15. The Arplicant's contention that defense counsel's

failure to adegquately investicate the facts of the prirary case

c5y 87d to cbtain the assistance of an independant ballistics expert

Tesulted in his being denied the effective assistance of counsel

may be sustained only if he can demonstrate that 4 reasonable

Frobability exists that, but for defense counsel's unprofessional

rrers, the result of the proceeding would have been different.
Strickland v. Washington, supra; Hernandez v, State, supra.

16. wWhile the Court is not convinced that a reascnable
= Probasbility exists that the ovtcome of the guilt or inmnocence
. stage of the proceedings would have Leen different, the Court
' C38 ccmcludes that, but for defense ccunsel's deficient perfermance as
) set fc-th abecve, a reasoralle prebebility does exist that the
Lo cutccme of the proceedings at the punishment stage of the
| receesings wculd have Leen cEifferent. Ex parte Guzmon, 730
S.W.,2¢ 724 (Tex.Criz.App. 1587).

) 17. Whern a cefendant challenges a ceath sentence, the

o ceestion is whether there is a reazscrzkle Probtability that, absent

cefense counsel's errers, the sentencer would have concluded that

: C53 tkre Lalance of zggravating and miticating circumstances did not
b . w&rrant ceath. Strickland v, Washington, supra, i

18. The benchmark for judging any claim of ireffectiveness
must be whether cdefense counsel's conduct s0 undermined the proper
) functicning of the adversarial process that the trial--at either

C60 stage of the proceedings--cannot be relied on as having produced a -
just result. Strickland v. Washington, supra.

18, 1f defense counsel's presentation of the Applicant’s
cefensive theory rad been premised on a thorough factval
investigation including the retention of an independant ballistics

Cé1 expert, the Court concludes that any lingering "residual doubt®
that the jury might kave had that the Applicant had not been
responsible for firing the fatal shot would have clearly operated
in his favor at the punishment stage of the trial. See Lockhart
v. McCree, 476 U.S. 172 (1986).
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20. The Court concludes that defense counsel's failure to
aleguately investigate the facts as reflected in their wholesale
failure to monitor the trial of the Azplicant’s cc-defendant or to
ctherwise cbtain critical perticns ¢f the statement of facts from
the co-cefendant's trial, their ccnccmitant failure to.cbtain the
essistance of an incdependent ballistics expert to assist them in
advarcing the Applicant's defensive thecry caused a breakdown in
the adversarial process that our system counts on to produce Just
results, 8 lEkreakdewn sufficient to undermine ccnfidence in the
outcene of the punishoment stage cf the primary case. Strickland
v. Wastington, supra; Ex parte Guzoon, supra; Cook v. Lyhaugh, BeY
¥Y.4c 107242 (5th Cir. 158%77. '

21, In seeking habeas corpus relief, the Applicant assumes
the burden of proving his factual allegations by a preponderance
cf the evicdence. Ex parte Griffin, 675 S.W.2d 15 (Tex.Crim.App.
1584).

22. Eecause the Applicant has <demonstrated by a
prezcncesrance ©f the evicence that when the totality of cefense
ccunsel's representation, Ex parte Welborn, supra, 15 viewed in

cnjuncticn with' those cther failings of counsel set forth in

Sections €, G, B, and I, infra, see Weathersby v. State, 627
E.W.28 729 (Tex.Crim.App. 1i%ez), Le wa2s cenied tne eiiective
2ssistance of counsel, the Court recommends that habeas corpus
reiief in this rezard be GRANTED.

- e o e,
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I.  TPENSE COUNSEL'S FAILURE T\ <oRrmy no
TRIAL _IRATEGY FOR DEPUSING THE APPL?CAN;fnggﬂggSION
THAT HE WAS ARMED WITH A .22 CALIBER r:kzikx
FINDINGS OF PACT

1.

Section B, supra.
2. Counsel for both sides in the prirary c&se agreed that

the issue of wlrether the Applicant fired the fatal
Pullet which killed the cececent was a "life or death issue,®

3.

prcbability have saved the Applicant's 1ife.

é.

not fire the fatal .22 caliber bullet was concerned, lead defense
counsel Recn Mock replied that, "I really didn't have one.®

5. ©Mock, however, later described the trial strategy that
he haé formulated to convince the jury that the Applicant had not
fired the fatal ,22 caliber bullet as being premised on

*cornfusion” and "total]) speculation."

€. When asked at the evidentiary hearing to recall what
evidence existed at the time of the Aprlicant's trial that he did
not fire the fatal .22 caliber bullet, Xock replied, "None.®

During his final argument in the punishment stage of
defense co-counsel Frank Alvarez argued to
some evidence perhaps that [the

7.
the Arplicant's trial,

the Jjury that, "[Tlhere is
Arplicant] may have had a .357 magnum instead of a ,22. of
course, in the [Applicant‘'s]) statement, it says he had a .,22. I

can't explain that. I can't get around that. I'm going to be

honest  with  you,
however,
down for their purposes, There is no proof of that, but 11 (the
Eppiicent] fac a .357 magrum, then Le wesn't the person who pulled
the trigger that killed Mr. Eall."™ (Emphasis acded).

B. To the extent that this argument ray be viewed as a
Jast-minute attempt to formulate a trial strategy calculated to
defuse the Azplicant's admission in his written statement that he
was 2rred with a ,22 caliber fireazrm,
carnnot be fzirly cdescribed as a sound trial strategy.

5. Viewed acainst the tackdrop of Mock's testimony at the
evicdentiary hearing, Alvarez® firal eargumerit at tbg_pun:shmgnt
stage of thre Applicant's trial, and the physical evidence which

 deferse counsel was aware of or should have reasonably teen aware

of, the Court finds trat defense counsel had no sound trial
strategcy to cefuse the Applicant's admission that he was armed
with a .22 caliber firearm. : .

441

In the interzest of judicial econo
2 -~ st m the Co eb
inccrporates by reference thtse Findings of Fiét whichE;;p::; i:

22 caliber

Defense counsel readily acknowledged 5

f§nds trat the creation of a reasonable'doubtgin tgi ;?:ﬁ i:?r:
sirgle juror as to whether the Aprlicant possessed a .357 or .22
caliber weapon during the commission of this offerse would in all

¥When esked to describe the trial strategy that he had
formuleted insofar as convincing the jury that the Applicant did

It'e not beyond the realm of possibility,
that the Sherifi's people may have put the wrong caliber

the Court finds that it
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F242
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0. D. ing the evicdentiary hearin . . :
Arplicant's expert witness oOn thre area ;§g§n§5?fg;‘iihz;iﬁtzathe
c€f ccunsel noted that at the time thre Applicant‘;avefinvest%satnce
Eis written statement in wrich he acdmitted that he was arnig w?ig
a .22 caliber firearm, neither the Applicant nor the inveséi ators
knew that the cececent Lad been killed with a .22 calidber buglet.

11. schaffer pointed out that because it was his experience
in criminal cases involving co-cefendants that, '[E]aéh one élaims
the other orne cid it," it was reasonable to conclude that the
Arplicant mere than likely switched places with JSohn Dale Eenry in
terms of both the weapons they pecssessed and their'places curing
the commission of the prirary cffense tecause the Arplicant
believed at the tirme that a bullet from his .357 magnum had caused
the ceath of the decedent,

i2. The Court £inds that reasonably competent counsel
pasticularly cone with the amount ©f trial experence in bcté
capital and non-capital cases that Mock possessed at the time of
the Applicant's trial, would have seen that a sound trial
sirategy--perhaps the only sound trial strategy--in defusing the
Arplicant's admission that he was armed with a .22 caliber
firearm, was that the Aprplicant switched places with his
ce-cefendant in his written statement to avoid being identified as
the actor whem he believed at the time had fired the fatal shot.

13, The Court finds that the trial strategy 2lluded to by
Scraffer at tre evicentiary hearing, 8 strategy certainly not
beycnd the intellectual grasp of reasonably competent counsel,
trhat the Applicant might have Leen a liar but nct a killer, was
nct cnly censistent with the physical evidence in the Applicant's
case but was irnfinitely rore sound than the trial strategy
premised on "confusicn", "total[] speculaticn”™, and "no proof®
aivenced by cdefense counsel, ‘

14. Tre Court finds txat tased on the physical evidence of
which Ccefernse counsel was either eaware c¢f or should have
rezscnatly been aware of, that the trial strategy alluded to by

. Schaffer was not only plausible but was legally and ethically

F245

C144

supportakle as well,

15. To the extent that this trial strategy could have been
deveicped by ceferse counsel through the cross-exzmination of the
homicide cetectives, the Court finds that it woulé not have been
recessary for cefesnse counsel to have put the Applicant on the

stard to expressly admit that he kad switched places in his

written statement with his co-defendant.
CONCLUSIONS OF 1AW

1. It is well settled that a criminal cefense attorney

rust have a firm command of the facts of the case before he can:

render reasorably effective assistance of counsel, Butler wv.

State, supra,

9, ~Defense counsel has the responsibility of conducting an

C145 ingepercdant irvestigation of the facts of his client's case and he

rmay not rely exclusively upon his client's version to discharge
this responsibility. :ix parte Ewing, supra.

£ 46




3. Deferse counsel has a profag
less
C146 available ev’dence and arguments in io) ‘ )
positions an to contest with vigor a . po;; of his client's
views, Thoras v. State, supra, (Emphasis‘aédidje:se cvidence and

nal duty to present all

4. While the Applicant muse -
. Fresurption that defense counsel's ccnduc:ov::cosm:t ;::th s:;ong
2147 right be considered sound trial Strategy, it may not be arggz;

that a given course of conduct constituted i

: : trial strategy
and until cdefense counsel has conducted the necessa;;lle :fI:;;
factual investigation. BPBx parte Welborn, supra. ¢

s. Because defense counsel has a dy

: such skill and knowledge as will render th:yt;?afr:n%wzgit;;:

s148 eiversarial testing process,” Strickland v, Washington, supra, the
Court concludes that defense couirsel’'s failuze to orﬂETE?i and
acdvance & sound trial strategy for defusing the Applicant's
8irmission that he was armed with a .22 caliber firearm fell
ocutsice of the wide range of professionally competent assistance
Butler v, State, supra, s$o0 as to cornstitute deficient pe:formance'
Black v. State, supra. :

: .6. In light of the physical evidence availadle to them at
c€149 the Arplicant's trial,, the Court concludes that defense counsel's
trial strategy of “"cornfusion™ and “"totall) speculation®™ in
atterpting to convince the jury that the 2pplicant 8id not fire
the fatal .22 caliber bullet, when ccontrasted with that legally
and ethically plausible trial stratecy alluded to above, cannot be
fairly viewed as a sound trial strategy. PEx parte Guzmon, supra;

Riascos v. State, supra: Hillet_y. State, supra,

7. Cleims of ireffectiveress must be judged on whether

delense counsel's ccnduct s0 underrmined the proper functioning of

C150 the acversarial process that the trial, at either stage of the
o Froceecings, cannot be relied upon as lraving produced a Just
' result, Strickland v. Washington, supra: Ex parte Welborn, supra.

‘ g. If defense counsel's presentation of the Applicant's
ci51 cefersive treory rad been premised, inter alia, on the sound trial
strztegy that the Applicant switched gplaces in his written
statemernt with hris co-defendant, the Court concludes that any
lirgering "residual doubt"™ that the jury might have hazd that the
Aprlicant had not fired the fatal .22 caliber bullet would have
clearly ogpersted in his favor at the punishment stage of the
trial, See Lockhart v, McCree, supra. )

9. Because the jury's resolution of wkether the Applicant
fired the fatal shot was litera2lly a matter of life and death to
the 2Applicant, the Court concludes that the Aapplicant was
preivdiced by defense counsel's conduct and that a reasonable
- precbability exists that the outcome of the proceedings at the
o purishment stage of the Applicant's trial would have been
different but for defense counsel's deficient performance. BEx.
parte Guzmon, supras Boyington v. State, 738 S.W.2d 707
(Tex.App.--Rouston [Ist Dist.T, 15835]. - - : s
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10. In seeking habeas ccrpus relief, the agrlicant assumes
the burlen c¢f proving his factual allegaticns by 2 prescnderance

of the evidence. PBx parte Alexander, supra. -€:
1. Becauvse the Arplicant has dexcnstrated by a

presconcerance ¢f the evidence that when the totality cf defense
ccunsel's representation is viewed in cernjuncticn with these other
failings o©f ccunsel se: forth in Sections B, C, G, and H, supra,
be was Ceniec the effective 2ssistarnce cof counsel, the Court
seccoomends that hateas corpus relief in this regaré be GRANTED.
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FINDINGS OF FACT

TAB2
_ FINDING PAGENO. | PARAGRAPHNO. | RECORD REFERENCE
7 F107 4 | 1 AX 62/SF VI, 175-76
{ F108 24 2 AX 62
F109 24 3 AX 72
| F110 24 4 SF1, 135-38/SF 1, 174
a F111 25 5 SF VI, 176-77
F112 25 6 SF VI, 177-78, 192
F113 25 7 - SF VII, 54-64
- F114 25 8 SF VII, 54-64
F115 25 9 SF VII, 54-64
F116 25 10 AX 63/SF VI, 179-80
; F117 25 1 SF VI, 181
F118 25 12 SF VI, 179-80
- F119 25 13 AX 64/SF VI, 181
F120 25 14 SF VII, 54-64
N F121 26 15 SE VI, 182
F122 26 16 SF VI, 183
- F123 26 17 SF VI, 64-72
FI24 26 18 AX 65-67
5 Fi2s | 26 19 AX 67/SF VI, 186-87
| F126 26 20 SF VI, 54-72
= F127 26 21 SF VI, 187-88
- F128 26 22 SF VI, 188-90
= Ee 26 23 SF VIL, 54-72
FI30 e 24 AX 68/SF VI, 190
F131 7 25 SE VI 191.92 _
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FINDING PAGENO. | PARAGRAPHNO. | RECORD REFERENCE

F132 27 26 SF VI, 193

F133 27 27 SFV, 194

F134 27 28 SF VII, 54-64, 102-04

F135 27 29 SF VII, 54-64, 102-04

F136 27 30 AX 69/SF VI, 195-97/SF
VI, 198-99/SF VI, 199-
200

F137 27 31 AX 69/SF V1, 195-97/SF
VI, 198-99/SF VI, 199-
200

F138 27 32 AX 69/SF VI, 195-97/SF
VI, 198-99/SF VI, 199-
200

F139 28 33 SF VII, 98-100

F140 28 34 AX 69/SF VI, 202

F141 28 35 AX 70/SF VI, 202-08

F142 28 36 SF VII, 98-100

F143 28 37 AX 71/SF VI, 206-09

Fl144 28 38 SF VI, 207

F145 28 39 SF VII, 98-100

F146 28 40 AX 72/SF VI, 210-215

F147 28 41 AX 72/SF VI, 210-215

F148 28 02 AX 72/SF VI, 210-215

F149 29 43 AX 72

F150 29 44 SF VI, 211-12

F151 29 45 | SE VI, 211, 214

F152 29 46 SEVI, 211-12

_F153 29 47 SF VI, 101-104
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FINDING PAGE NO. PARAGRAPH NO. RECORD REFERENCE
F154 29 48 SF VII, 54-64
F155 29 49 SF VII, 54-64
F156 29 50 SE III., 280-84
3
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F111 -

Fi112

F113

F114,

F115

Fti16:

F117

C. DEPENSE COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO fo) TO THE STATE'S
USE OF VICTIM¥ 'MPACT EVIDENCE AT TRIAL ijgcgURING FINAL ARGUMENT

FINDINGS OF FACT

1. During the guilt or innoccence stage of the Applicant's
trial, Eileen Hall, the widow of the cecedent, was permitted to
testify without objection that the dJdecedent had performed
"coraunity service-type work" as a volunteer fireman whe drove an
axbulance for the fire department as well, —

2. Fall was also permitted to testify without objection
that the week after the decedent's death, he was slated to begin
work with the Liberty County Skeriff's Department.

3. Hall was also permitted to testify that the cecedent
kad taken in her two boys from a previous marriage to live with
them after she married the dececent.

4. tead cdefense counsel Ron Mock noted that evicdence as

_to the impact of crime on the victims of crime, so-called

*victim-impact testimony," was inadmissible and that {t had been
his policy for many years to never let the State elicit this type
of testimony irasmuch as it "irreparably” prejuliced the accused.

S. Mock stated that he did not okject to Hall's testimony
recarding the cecedent's work as a volunteer fireman or other good
works because this testimeny "did not go to character as character
is in its overall capacity conceived," and that this testimony was

not harmful to the Applicant's case.

6. Mock noted that he did not file a pre-trial motion in
limine to preclude the State from eliciting victim-impact evidence
Because he dié not think that sound trial strategy required that
he o so.

7. The Court finds that reascnably corpetent dJdefense
counsel would have filed a pre-trial motion in limine to preclude
tre State from eliciting the very type of victim-impact evidence
to which Mock failed to object. '

8. The Court finds that reascrnably competent defense
counsel would have objected to Hall's testimony regarding .the
decedent's employment as a volunteer fireman, sheriff's deputy.‘

and his other good works.

9. To the extent that Mock believed that his failure to
object to Eall's testimony was sound trial strategy, the Court

finds that it was not.

10. During the cuilt or innocence stage of the Applicant's
trial, Debra Young, the State's only eyewitness in the primary
case, testfied without objection that at the time the Applicant _
put a gun to her head, she was thirking about her three children

_2nd that there would be no one to taxe care of them.

1. Yoﬁng also testified without objection }hat wken the
applicant knocked her against the wall during the primary offense,
she kept wondering who was going to take care of her_chzldren.
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F119

F120

Fi121

F122

F123

F124

F125

F126

F127

F128

F129

Mﬁfoperly objected to Ycung's testimony.

— i trmm ey v me sy Wi

L . A [Py . o
ehe Applicanc s case, fese7 or|Taat 4t/ was harmful to

13. Mc : st i ‘

25 to whar o s gtedt;hat he did net object to Young's testimony
going through her ming at the time the Appl{

kqo;ked her against the wall because he felt}thfs : e Applicant

admissible as "goling] to her state of ming.* estimony was

h t" Tge Ccourt fi?ds that reasonably competent counsel would

w;:fdczifCte tchogp?es testimony about her concerns as to who
e care of children and that { ’

kave been served by failing to objecgngcsggnd tfrial-strategy could

15. Dburing his final argurment in the guilt or innocence
stage of the Applicant's trial, Mock argued to the jury that he
was sure that Debra Young "([W]las terrified, I don't suppose
anybody can imagine the terror she went through. On top of that,
she lcst a good friend ... and certainly wants to see somebody pay
for what happened.”

16. Mock stated that the strategic value in reminding the
jury that Young hLad been terrified and angry was in a lawyer

- gaining credibility with the jury by "admit[ing] that those things

did happen.”

17. The Court finds that contrary to Mock's Assertions.
there was no basis in a sound trial strategy for making this type
of argument to the jury in the Applicant's case.

18, During his final argument in the guilt or innocence
stace of the trial, John Kyles, lead counsel for the presecution,
argued without objecticn that Debra Young gave of herself, that
she was a volunteer arbulance driver, and that she was a
straight-forward woman who gave of herself,

19. Mock noted that he &id not object to Kyles' argument in
this regard because he believe that it was a reascnable cdeduction
from "facts in evidence™ anéd that this argument did not prejudice

the Applicant's case, »

20, Tre Court finds that had reascnably competent defense

counsel properly objected to Young's testimony, this argument would
not rzve teen permissible as a reasonable deduction from the
evidence, and that recardless of this earlier waiver, Teasonably
cempetent counsel would have nonetheless objected to Kyles' final

argument.
21, During his final argument in §he guilt or innocence
stage of the Applicant's trial, Kyles reminded the Jjury without

objection that Young thought she was going toO die an§ that she wa
concerned about who was going to take care of her children. :

22. Mock stated that he did not object to Kyles!' argument
in this recard because it was a reasonable deduction from those

facts already in evidence, -

) M,”&Zj.” The Court finds that had reasonably competent counsel
this argument would not

have been a reasonable deduction from the evidence, and that
recardless of this earlier waiver, reasonably competent counsel
would rave nonetheless objected to xy1es'_argument. _ o ‘
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24. During his final argument in the guilt or {

. . _ nnocence
state of the Applicant's trial, Kyles argued without objection
that the decedent was .a man who gave of himself and to his family,
had three jobs, and had time to act as a volunteer armbulance

driver.

25. Mock stated that he did not object to this argument
because he did not feel that he could make "a legal objection® to

it.

26. Mock admitted that he did not believe that the issue of
the decedent's good works in the community were relevant to any
issue material to the Jjury's deliberations at the guilt or
innocence stage of the Applicant's trial,

27. Mock did not believe that evidence and argument as to
the decedert's good works and his loss to the community was either
nvictim-impact evidence"™ nor prejudicial to the Applicant's

cefernse.

28. The Court finds that had reasonably competent counsel
obiected to Eileen Hall's testimony, this arument would not have
been permissible, and that regardless of this earlier waiver,
reascnably conpetent counsel would have nonetheless objected to

Kyles' argument.

29. The Court finds that contrary to NMock's assertions,
e was no basis in a sound trial strategy for permitting the

her
ate to engace in this type of final argument.

t
St

30. During his firal argument in the purishment stage of
the Applicant's trial, Mock argued to the jury that the Arplicant
was not Lteing tried for a "caese of felony durmb ass,"™ and that,
“The pecple who do robberies are not nice people ... I know you
czrn't eizse the scars of a robbery. You can't erase the memory of
2 cun pointed in your nose or to your read and scrmebody telling
you give me your money. motherfucker. You can't do that.”

31, Mock stated that the strategic value in making this
decicedly profane argument was to make the Jjurors aware that

robbery was not a pleasant experience,

32. Even though the language Mock used had not been used by
the Applicant during the commission of this offense, Mock
nonetheless believed that there was strategic value in and that
the Applicant's defense was helped by showing the jurors the way

"real robbers" operate.
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‘ 33. The Court finds that contrary to Mock's assertions. mo

o strategic purpose calculated to assist cpli
{ coculd have been served by Mock's argumen:.the hpplicant’s defense

; F139
34. During his final argument i
| the Applicant's trial, Mock argued to ?; the punishment stage of
= . . e jury that—the decedent
=L werked three jcbs and that 21l that he had worked hard to build up
B F140 over the years had been taken away by the Applicant,

i 3s. Mock noted that his trial gtrate i
h n making this
| a;gument ::s to :ho:'thagzthe cecedent provokedggke Applicagi into
shooting him and that this argument helped
s shooting him And eeh P rather than hurt the

36. The Court finds that no sound trial strategy could have

teen served by this argument and that this argument was clearly

5? -calculated to and did, in fact, enable the State to respond to
s F142 and enlarge upon the good qualities of the decedent.

37. During his final argument in the punishment stage of
the Applicant's trial, Mock argued to the jury that nothing could
be done to bring the decedent btack to life and that his wife had

F143 suffered a terrible loss., - .

%
P 38. ¥ock explaired that this argument was essential 4f

] . . Reagrids
o Fi44 the jury was to think that he rad any credibility.

% 39, To the extent that this argument was not at all
- calculated to convirnce the jury that the answers to any of the
i special issues should have Leen resolved in the Applicant's favor,
“ the Ccurt finds that no strategic value could have teen served as

;# . F145 a result of this argument,

40. During his final argument to the Jjury during the

; punishment stage of tre Applicant's trial, Kyles argued to the
| jury without objection that, "[Tlhe problem that I Lave with this
kird of case is that you have had an opportunity to focus on the

Cefendant, but you have never had a chance to know the victim,

T% E F146 what do you know about Frank Eallz*
2

41. Kyles then reminded the jury without objection that the
cecedent was a good man who provided not only for his family but
for his wife's sons by her first marriage, that he worked three
jobs, and that he was a volunteer fireman and arbulance driver.

F147

! 42, Kyles than reminded the Jjury at length without
e objection to thirk about the grief of the dececent's family,  the
tears that they shked upon learning of the decedent's death, every

- Fiag Dight before they, the jurors, went to bed. ‘ o
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43. Xyles then told the jury without objection that, ®[I]¢f
there is some focus of attention on some person, think about Frank
Hall. Think about his good works. Dontt focus on the face of
this killer [Applicant].®

44. Mock stated that he did not object to Kyles' argument
recounting the decedent's good works and the impact of his death
on his family because he did not believe that this argument was
gigher helpful to the State or prejudicial to the Applicant's

efense,

5. Mock also noted that he did not object to KRyles®
argument, which he had "probably" heard Kyles use in other cases,
because he did not want the Jjury to be mad at him and that he
could not think of any procedural vehicle or tactic to keep this
argument out without alienating the jury.

45, Mock did not remerker which of the special issues to
which Kyles' argument was relevant and it was rot Mock's belief
that the special issues were designed to focus the Jjury's
attention on the conduct of the defendant.

47. The Court finds that there was no sound strategic
rezson for Mock not to have objected to Kyles' argument, and that
reascrnably comgetent defense counsel would Lave objected to it.

48. The Court firnds that Mock's failure to file a pre-trial
retion in limine, pacticularly where he acknowledged hearing Kyles
make this same type of firal argurment in other cases, designed to
preclude Kyles from making this type of victim-impact argunment,
and his subseguent failure to cbject to Kyles' argument so as to
preserve the ratter for arpellate review, was clearly deficient

performance.

49. The Court finds that Mock's general trial strategy of
not otjecting to the State's use of either patently inadmissible
victim-irpact evidence or finmal ergument for fear of making the
jury mad at him within the context of a death penalty-case was

fundarentally unsound.

50. The Court finds that one year prior to the Applicant's
trial, the "victim-impact® final argument which John Kyles
delivered in Benpett v. State, 677 s.Ww.2d 121 (Tex.App.--Kouston
[14th Dist.}, 1984J, corpelled a reversal of the defendant's
conviction after it was described by Justice Junell as "[Cllearly
speculative, and [was) calculated to inflame.and prejudice [the
jury) ‘against the appellant [and was) ovtside the record "and
expressions of [Kyles'] personal opinion. Id. at 125~-126.
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CONCLUSIONS OP Law

g 1. Because the penalty of death is qualitatively different
from a sentence of imprisonment, however 1long, there is a
corresponding difference in the need for reliability in the
determination that death is the appropriate punishment in a

c65 specific case., Woodson v. North Carolina, ¢28 U.S. 280 (1576).

B

) 2. The qualititative difference of death from all other
punishments requires a correspondingly greater degree of scrutiny
of the capital sentencing cdetermination., California v. Ramos, 463

c66 U.S. 952 (1983).

3., It is of vital importance to the defendant and to the
community that any decision to impose the death sentence be, and
- _2ppesr to Lbe, based on reason rather than caprice or emotion.
5 o, Gordner v. Plorida, £30 U.S. 345 (1377).

&, Many of the limits that the United States Surreme Court
= kas placed on the irposition of capital punishment are rooted in
;j concern that the sentencing process should facilitate the
o respcnsible and reliable exercise of sentencing discretion.

. Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104 (1582); Lockett v. Ohio, 438
| ceg U.5. 566 (157/5); Gerdner v. Florida, supra.

5. A Jjury must rake an "individualized determination®
5 whether the cefencdant in questicn srould be executed, based on
”i "the ckazracter of the individtal and the circumstances of the
e crime."” zant - v. Stephens, 462 U.S. 862 (1983)(Emphasis in

w c69 original).

?ﬁ‘ 6. The United States Supreme Court has consistently

recognized that for purpcses of imposing the ceath peralty, the
; eferdant's punishment must Le tailored to his personal
| respensibility and moral guilt. Enmund v. Plorida, 458 U.S. 782

- c70 (1982); Tison v. Arizona, 481 U.S. I37 (15871,

9. As long ago as 1501, the Court of Criminal Appeals had
Reld that the admission of testimony as to the number and ages of
the decedent's children was reversible error since this testimony
was solely intended to excite the sympathy of the of the jury and
to prefudice threm against the defendant. = Faulkner v. State, 65

8. "For the 1last ninety years, the Court of Criminal
i Apceals has consistently held that the tyre of testimony e}icited‘
- by the State at the guilt or innocence state of the ﬁpplzcang's
- : trial without objection by deferse counsel &nd explo1ted.dur1ng
= c72 the final argument at the punishment stage of the Applicant'm —
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trial by the State without objection b fense coun

wholly improper and patently inad:nissi}glif See e.;.elAIi;eﬁo:{x
State, 278 S.W., 201 (Tex.Crim.App. 1525) (Admission of festimony
that decedent left behind wife and five children aged six to
sixteen irrelevant and imraterial as tending only to arouse jury's
sympathy and prejudice them against the defendant)r Goolsby v.
State, 15 S.W.2d 1052 (Tex.Crim.App. 1525) (Testimony that
decedent's wife and baby left without support as a result of
cdeferdant's bad acts iradrissible); Ainsworth v. State, 56 S.W.2d
457 (Tex.Crim.App. 1933)(Reversibleé error to permit son of
decedent to testify that his mother was left with eight children
and that they were poverty-stricken); Elizondo v. State, 94 S.W.2d
457 (Tex.Crim.App. 1536) (Reversidble error for prosecutor to =ask
cefendant how many children he made orphans of when he killed the
decedent)s Eckels v, State, 220 S.w.2d 175 (Tex.Crim.App.
1948) (Error to admit testimony that decedent had a wife and five
chiléren)s Cavarrubio v. State, 267 s.w.2d 417 (Tex.Crim.App.
1554) (Error to acmit testimony as to number of children decedent's
widow hkad):; Cadenhead v, State, 369 S.W.2d 44 (Tex.Crim.App.
1563) (Reversible error to acmit testimony by mother of decedent
that he was the sole support of her and her husband).

9. The Court of Criminal Appeals has hLeld that testimony
from the cdececdent's widow in a capital murder case that he wag a
peaceful, hardworking man, who had been rarried for twenty-two
years and left behind five children was not relevant to any of the
special issues presented to the jury and because it was elicited
for no other purpcse than to inflame the jury and to arcse their
sy~mpathy, the cdefendant's cdeath sentence had to be set aside.
Armstrong v, State, 718 S.wW,2d 686 (Tex.Crim.App. 1585).

: 10. While the Court of Criminal Appeals has held that it
was error to admit testimony virtually identical to that
introduced without objection in the 2Applicant's trial because it
"had no beering whatsoever on any material issue in the case and .
its sole purpcse was to inflame the minds of the jury.," the Court
also held that defense counsel's failure to lodge a timely and
specific objection to this testimony waived the error. Vela v,
State, 516 S.,wW.2d 176 (Tex.Crim.App. 1974).

11, But the Fifth Circuit Court gf Appeals later set aside

grounds given defense coursel's failure to lodge a timely and -
specific objection to this testimony, an error it descrikted as
rfundamental, revealing ignorance of one of the most basic rules
of Texas procedure." Vela v. Estelle, 708 F.2d 954 (5th Cir.

1983).
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12. The Fifth Circuit held that defense counsel’
to lodge a timely and specific objec:ionet;qige Stag:%“p::iggi;
iradmissible evidence "fell below the range of competency demanded
of attorneys in criminal cases" and *"resulted in actual and
substantial disadvantage to the cause of [the _defendant's)
defense.®™ Vela v. Estelle, supra, T

13. To the extent that Mock did not object to either the
State's introduction of victim-impact evidence at the guilt or
innocence stage of the Applicant's trial or its victim-impact
based final argument during the punishment stage of the trial on
the grounds that he did not believe he could lodge a *"valid legal
objection" thereto, the Court concludes that Mock's ignorance of
over ninety years of well-settled Texas precedent did not fall
within the "wide range of professional assistance.™ Strickland v.

_Washington, supra;s Vela v, Estelle, supra.

14. To the extent that Mock premised his failure to object
to the State's use of victim-impact evidence and final argument at
both stages of the Applicant's trial on what he believed to be
trial strategy, the Court concludes that Mock's "trial strategy®
to asmit this evidence and argument was fundamentally unsound
jrasmuch as there could have been no sound strategic value in Mock
kaving passed over the admission of prejudicial and clearly
iradmissible evicence and firal argument. lyons v. McCotter, 770
F.2d 529 (5th Cir. 1585): Ex parte Welborn, 785 S5.w.<d 391

Tex.Crim.ALp. 1880} ; Miller Y. State, 728 S.w.24 133
(Tex . .Agcp.--Houston [l14th Dist.), 1587).

15. To the extent that Mock's .premised his failure to
otiect to the victim-impact evidence and argument at both stages
of the Aprlicant's trial on trial strategy. the Court concludes
that this expiznation was clearly at ocds with what he had earlier
noted at the evidentiary hrearing was his long-standing policy
rever to let the State elicit this type of testimony and argument
tecause it "irreparably" cdamzged the accused, See long v. State,
764 S.W.28 30 (Tex.App.--San Antonio, 158%) (The knowing acmission
of evidence that is at odds with defense counsel's "trial
strategy" is "objectively unreasonable" and constitutes

"objectively deficient” performance.).

16. Because no reascrnably competent attorney exercising
professional judgment could have failed to object to the State's
use of victim-impact evidence and argument at both stages of the
Applicant's trial, Lyons V. McCotter, supra, Vela v. Estelle,
supra, the Court conclucdes that Fock's conduct was both ceficient
ana prejuducial to the Applicant. strickland v. Washington,

supra;
Dist.l., 1569), aftirmed,

812 s.w.2d 326 (Tgx.Crim.App. 1891). - -
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17. A capital sentencing proceeding is sufficiently 1ike a
trial in its adversarial format and in the existence of standards
for decision that defense counsel's role in the proceeding is
comparable toO defense counsel's role at trial--tO ensure that the
adversarial testing process wCrks to produce 8 Jjust result under
the standards governing decision. Strickland v, washington,
supra; Lankford v. Idaho, v.s. e 211 S5.Ct. 1723 (15517, .

i8. In view of defense counsel's wholesale failure to
object to the State's use of victim-impact evidence and argument
as set forth above, the Court concludes that but for defense
counsel's deficient perfocrmance, a reascnable probability exists
that the ocutcome ©f the proceedings at the punishment stage of the
Applicant's trial would have been different. Ex parte Guzmon, 730
S.W.2d 724 (Tex.Crim.Arp. 1987): Wilson v, FKexp, 777 F.Zd 621
{l1ith Cir. 1985).

19, The Court concludes that defense counsel's fajlure to
object to the State's use of victim-impact evicence and argument
as set forth above caused a breakdown in the adversarial process
that our system counts upon to produce just results, a breakdown
sufficient to undermine confidence 3in the outcome o©of the
proceedings, Strickland v. Washington, supra, sc as to call into
gquestion the reilability.of trhe Jury's verdict at the punishment
stage of the Applicant's trial. See Woodson v. North Carolina,

supra.

20. Althougk the Respondent contends that the prosecution's
victim-ixpact arcument at the punishment stage of the Applicant's
trial was both a proper response to cefernse counsel's earlier
arcument, inter alja, that the cececdent was a good man who was a
value to the cormunity or permissible under the "invited argument®
Soctrine, the Court concludes that both contentions are untenable
simply because it was defense counsel’s own deficient performance
which placed the prosecution in a position to either respond to
Sdeferse coursel's earlier argument or to avail itself of the
"invited argument" doctrine. See Ex parte Guzmon, - supra. -
("Deferise 'evicdence' that applicant was a "wet-rack' whose future
behavior was unpredictable and who refused to take responsibility
for his actions seems to have buttressed the State's case on

punishment rather than refuting it.").

- 20. Although the United States Supreme Court had held that
the Eighth Amendment barred the admission of victim-impact
evidence during the punishment stage of a capital murder trial,
Booth v. Maryland, 482 U.S. 496 (1587) as well as the State's use
Of Victim=irpact argument during the punishment stace of a capital
murder trial, South Carolina v. Gathers, 490 U.S. 805 (19859); the
Supreme Court cverruled both of trese holdings in Payne V.

Tennessee, U.S. ., 111 s.ct. 2597 (1891). . .
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21. In eoverruling both Gather
Supreme Court did not hold :haf—;yezggi?:iagggéggdgﬁ?:vziétt::
§dm1tted or even that it sbould be acdmitted but merely held that
if a State decides to permit consideration of that evidence, the
Eighth Amendment erects no per se bar, Payne v. Tennessee, tapra.

22, In view of over 90 years of
. h : precedent from the Court of
Criminal Appeals holding this type of evidence and argument

inadmissible, the Court concludes that the holding of the United

States Supreme Court in Payne v, Tennessee, supra. does not
require the admission of victin-inpact evidence during the
purishiment stage of a capital murder case in Texas and that this
Court and the Court of Criminal Appeals are free to interpret
Article I, Section 13 of the Texas Constitution in a manner
consistent with this line of cases. RHeitman v. State, s.w.24d
____+ Tex.Crim.App. No. 1380-85 (Delivered June 25, 1593%1)-

23. Although the Respondent contends that the prosecution's
use of victim-impact evidence and argument at the punishment stage
of the Applicant's trial was permissible as "circumstances of the
offerse," see Miller-El v, State, 782 S.wW.2d 8952 (Tex.Crim.ADppP.
1950), the Court rejects this contention and concludes that the

victim-irpact evidence and argumernt adduced by the State had no

bearirg on the Applicant's personal responsibility and moral
guilt, see Stavinoha v. State, 808 S.W.2d 76 (Tex.Crim.App. 158%1),
$0 as to render 1t admissib.ie during the punishment stage of the
Applicant's trial. Armstrong v. State, supra,

24. Because the victim-impact evicdence and argument
vtilized by the State created far tooc great a risk that the death
sentence irmposed upon the Applicant was Lbased upon caprice and
emction rather than reason, Gardner v. Florida, supra, and was the
type of evicence which did not provice a "principled way ‘to
éistirguish [cases] in which the death penalty was imposed, from
the many cases in which it was not," Godfrey v. Georgia, 446 U.S.

420 (1580), the Court concluces that celense counsel's failure to

cbiect to this evidence and arcurment cenied the Applicant the
effective essistance of counsel during the punishment stage of his
trial. Ex parte Guzmon, supra,

- 25, In seeking habeas corpus relief, the Applicant assumes

the burcen of proving his factuval allegations by a preponderance

of the evidence. Ex parte Salinas, supra.

26. Because the Applicant has demonstrated by a

preponderance of the evidence that when the totality of defense
counsel's representation is viewed in conjunction with those other

failings of counsel as set forth in ’Section‘ B, supra, and in
Sections G, H, and I, infra, he was denied the effective

assistance of counsel, thé fourt recommends that habeas corpus
relief in this regard te SRANTED, T
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FINDINGS OF FACT

TAB3
FINDING PAGENO. | PARAGRAPHNO. | RECORD REFERENCE
F12 4 1 SF III, 265
F13 4 2 SF 11, 292-93, 303
Fl4 4 3 AX 48
F15 4 4 AX 48
F16 4 5 AX 48
F17 4 6 SF 111, 303
F18 4 7 _SRI, 170
F19 4 s |
F20 4 s |
F21 5 10 SF I, 92-93
F22 5 11 SF1, 98
F23 5 12 SF 1, 94-95
F24 5 13 SFII, 121-22
F25 5 14 SF1I, 123
F26 5 15 SF I, 124
F27 5 16 SFII, 12526
F28 5 17 SF 11, 127
F29 5 18 SF 111, 45-54
F30 6 19 SF VII, 45-54
F31 6 20 SF VII, 45-54 I
F32 6 21 SF VIIL, 16, 23
F33 6 2 SF VIII, 22
F34 6 23 SF VIIL, 24-25

F35 6 24 SF VIIL, 25

6 25 SE VIIL, 36

F36




FINDING PAGENO. | PARAGRAPHNO. | RECORD REFERENCE
F37 6 26 SF VIII, 37
F38 7 27 SF VIII, 40-41
F39 7 28 SF VIII, 44-45
F40 7 29 SF III, 258-63
F4l 7 31 SF III, 258-63
F42 7 2 SF III, 260-61
F43 7 33 SF III, 266-67
F44 7 34 SF III, 266-68
F45 8 35 AX 48
F46 8 36 SF 111, 269-70
F47 8 37 'SF1II, 170
F48 8 38 AX 35
F49 8 39 SF III, 272-75
F50 8 40 SF 11, 275-76
F51 8 41 SF III, 276-77
F52 8 b SF III, 277
F53 8 43 AX 40
F54 9 44 'AX 34, 40
F55 9 45 AX 34

" F56 9 46 SR
F57 9 47 SR
_F58 9 48 SR_




F. DEPENSE COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO REQUEST AN ANTI-PARTIES CHARGE
PINDINGS OF FPACT '

. 1. During thq guilt or innocence stage of the Applicant's

F188 trial, the jury was instructed on the law of parties and the law

of criminal responsibility for the conduct of another pursuant to
V.T.C.A. Penal Code, Sections 7.01 & 7.02, respectively.

e

2. During the punishment stage of the trial, the court

failed to instruct the jury not to consider the law of parties and

F189 the law of criminal responsibility for the conduct of another in
arswering the three special issues. See Green v. State, 682
S.W,2d 271 (Tex.Crim.App. 1984).

- - 3. Although defense counsel submitted a specially
o requested charge telling the jury that they could not consider the
mj F190 law of parties in answering the three special issues, the Court of
Criminal Appeals found on direct apreal that that defense counsel
"failed to object to the exclusion of a Green instruction from the
charge."” Westley v. State, 754 S.W.2d 22¥ (Tex.Crim.App. 1588).

4. The Court of Criminal Appeals held that defense

(i counsel's request for a Green instruction was not timely and

L F191 failed to 2pprise the court to the defect in its charge to the

jury and that pursuant to Almanza v, State, 686 S.w.2d 157

(Tex.Crim.App. 1985), defense counsel's failure to timely cbject
waived all but fundamental error. Westley v. State, supra.

5. The Court of Criminal Appeals held that the Applicant
o F192 Wwas not egregiously harmed by the absence of a Green instruction
= - to the jury during the punishment stage of his £rial inasmuch as
the evidence at trial showed that the Applicant's conduct was
directly responsible for the death of the decedent. Westley wv.
State, supra. See also Nichols v. State, 754 §S.W.28

— (Tex.Crim.App. 159887,

, 6. The Court finds that no sound strategic purpose could
= F193 have been served by defense counsel waiting until after the jury
- had reached a verdict as to punishment before submitting their:
request for a Green instruction and that reasonably competent
counsel would have ensured that such a charge was timely sought.

7. The Court finds trat the prosecution did not invite the
jury <Quring its final argurent in the punishment stage of the
Applicant's to apply the law of parties in answering the special

F194 issues but zarcued instead that the Applicant should be judged as ‘
the principal actor in determining his punishrment. See Westley v, _ .
State, supra. ’
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FINDINGS OF FACT

TAB 4

FINDING

PAGE NO.

PARAGRAPH NO.

RECORD REFERENCE

F188

42

1

AX 11

F189

42

AX 11

F190

43

AX 11

F191

43

AX 11

F192

43

AX 11

F193

43

F194

43

~N [N Ju s W o

SF VII, 93-95
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G  DEFENSE COUNSEL'S FINAL ? UMENT DURING
TH. PUNISHMENT STAGE OF THE APELICANT'S TRIAL

1

FINDINGS OF FACT i

- 1. During his final argument in the punishment stage
: . ~ of
the Applicant's trza{. lead defense counsel Eon Mock told thegjury
that he "would not irsult your intelligence by telling you that
Anthony Westley will rehabilitate himself."
2. In discussing the Applicant's pricr criminal histo
Mock told the Jjury that the Applicant had been given seveizi
chances but that he had *blown it."

3. Mock felt that the strategic value of this argument was
premsed on the need to admit that the Applicant "was not a hero®
and na; so "vouch for the ability of somebody to rehabilitate
themself. )

4. The Court finds that no sound trial strategy could have
been served by making this argument inasmuch as Mock's assertion
trtat the Applicant would never rehabilitate himself could only
have served to bolster the State's argument that the Applicant was
in fact a continuing threat to society. ‘

5. After arguing that the Applicant was not being tried
"for a2 case of felony durb ass,™ Mock told the jury that it was
irpossible to "erase the scars of a rcbbery" or "the memory of a’
gun pointed in your nose or to your head and someone telling you
'Give me your meney, motherfucker,'"™ even though the Applicant did
not use this type of language during the primary offense.

6. jock noted that the strategic value of making this type
of arcurment was to make the jurors aware that being the victim of
an aggrevated rcbbery was not "a pleasant experience,"™ and that
this type of argument was calculzted to make the Jury more

syrnpathetic to the Applicant.

7. The Court findés that no sound trial strategy could have
teen served by raking this tyre of argurment as it only could have
served to rnot only reinforce in the minds o©f the 3Jjurors the
cravity of the prirary cffense irsofar as its cdeliberate nature
was concerried but to bolster the State's argument that the
Applicant was in fact a contiruing threat to society as well,

8. During his final arcument in the punishment stage of

the Applicant's trial, Mock continually bolstered the character of .

both the surviving victim and the dececent in the primary case
but the victims of the unadjudicated aggravated robberies as well,

S. Mock noted that the strategic wvalue of making this
argument lay in his belief that the more positive things that the
jury knew about the victim,
towards the Applicant.

" 10. fThe Court finds that no sound trial strategy could have

been served by this type of argument inasmuch as it was not only
not reasonably calculated to foster sympathy for ghe'Applxcant §ut
it opered the door fov the State to respond with an otherwise

improper victim=impact argurment as well.

(L)
¢
=1

the more sympathetic they.wouldmfeel_;-



FINDINGS OF FACT

TABS
— FINDING PAGENO. | PARAGRAPHNO. | RECORD REFERENCE
- F195 44 1 SF VI, 236
| F196 45 2 SF VI, 234-35
| F197 45 3 SF VI, 236
F198 45 4 SF VIII, 64-74, 98-101
i F199 45 5 SF VI, 195-99
e F200 45 6 SF VI, 199-201
F201 45 7 SF VIIL, 64-74, 98-101
o F202 45 8 SF VIIL, 64-74, 98-101
‘\ F203 45 9 SF VIIL, 64-74, 98-101
F304 45 10 SF VIIL, 64-74, 98-101
,; F205 46 11 SF VIII, 64-74, 98-101
F206 46 12 SF VIIL, 64-74, 98-101
| F207 46 13 SF VIII, 64-74, 98-101 __|




B. NON-DYSCLOSURE OF THE SUPPLEMENT’ Y OFFENSE REPORT
FINDINGS OF FACT

1. On January 23, 1985, Deborah Eubanks Young testifiegd
for the prosecution in the aggravated robbery trial of John Dale
F299 Kenry., the Aprlicant's co-deferdant.

2. On February 13, 1985, Young was summoned to the Karris

County District Attorney's Office to meet with prasecutor John

= - F300 Kyles and District Attorney's Investigator Jim Jackson as part of
= the prosecution's pre-trial preparaticn for the Applicant's trial.

3. Xyles recounted that one of the purposes of this

meeting was to show a photographic array of firearms to Young to

F301 determine if she woulé be able to identify the type of firearm
that the Applicant "was known to carry.*

4. The photograrhic array Jackson put together and which
was shown to Young at this meetirg contained six guns including a

i F302’ .22 caliber ccwboy style gun, a 357 caliber weapon, and a
i ' Derrirger.

5. Kyles bLelieved that a rhotograrhic array was the
- fzirest opportunity to test Young's ability to identify the weapon

sl F303 the Applicant had pcssessed.
s. Although cowboy style guns come in a number of
differert cazlibers, the only cowboy style gun in the photographic

F304 array Young viewed was the .22 caliber model.

L 6. After viewing the photographic array, Young identified

;i .what was eventually acmitted at the Applicant's trial as State's

= F305 Exhibit 17 [Applicant's Exhibit 21} as a photograph of a weapon
*just like" the one the Applicant had used,

= ; ‘7. When State's Exhibit 17 had been previously offered and
admitted at the trial of John Dale Kenry, C.E. Anderson had
icentified it as being either a .357, a .38, or a .22 caliber

F306
, firearm.
| , 8. During the Applicant's trial, Anderson testified that
N F307 the firearm depicted in State's Exhibit 17 was a .22 caliber Ruger
‘fg ' style single action revolver,

- 9., After examining Anderson's ballistics report, Floyd

F308 McDonald, the Applicant's expert witness on firearms and

ballistics concluded that the weapon depicted in State's Exhibit

17 could not have been the weapon that fired the fatal shot in

e this case because a Ruger style revolver has six  "lands and
= grooves™ and the bullet that killed the decedent had eight "“lands

v and grooves.® ' : : B : ) ’

y 10. McDonald's conclusion is consistent with the fact that . - .

4 anderson's computer search to determine what weapons could have

~ F309  fired the fatal shot did nnt include the Ruger he had identified
“as State's Ixhibit 17 at the Applicant's trial.

T
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11. Alt.ough he ultimately agreed w:th Anderson's testimony

at the Applicant's trial, McDonald pointed out that it would be

F310 extremely difficult to determine from a side view alone whether
State's Exhibit 17 was 2 .22 or a .357 caliber weapon.

12, After Young picked State's Exhibit 17 out of the
photocraphic array, she was asked by Kyles if she knew the type
F311 &nd caliber of the weapon she had just identified as having been
= used by tke Applicant.

13, In response to Kyles' inquiry, Young stated that the

weapon the Applicant pcssessed during the commission of the

F312 prircary offense was & "large caliber weapon, either a .38 or .357
! caliter,” arnd that she "knew it was larger than a .22 caliber.*

; 14. The statements Young race in the presence of Kyles and

N F313. Jackscn were memorialized iIin a document styled "Supplementary

‘ Cffense Report" and which was acmitted at the evicentiary hearing
_as Applicant's Exhibit 4595. '

18, On February 25, 1885, the trial court granted that

portion of defense counsel's Motion for Discovery and Inspection

F314 which sought, inter alia, "Any evidence or information in the

pcssession or control of the State of Texas or known to the agents

of the State which is inconsistent with the guilt of the

Defendant, or which might tend to ameliorate the punishment of the
Defendant in the event of a finding of guilt.™ (Erphasis acced),

PSR

kid

16. At the evidentiary rLearing, Ron Mock initially
, testified that the prosecution never provicded him with a copy of
o F315 2pplicant's Exhibit 49 prior to trial. :

. 17. Mock noteé that it would have been extremely helpful to

e have had Applicant's Exhibit 49 at the Applicant's trial as it not

- F316 ~only would have useful for purposes of impeaching Young, but to
‘ generally discredit the State's theory of the case.

18, Mock also noted that the contents of Applicant's
Exhibit 49 would have been helpful during the punishment stage of
the Applicant's trial in convincing the Jjury that the third -
F317. special issue should be arnswered in the negative. - :

f 19. After testifying that he might have seen Applicant's
Exhibit 49 if it was in the State's file, Mock again reaffirmed
his earlier testimony that he had never seen the exhibit before

F318 admitting that the passage of time made it possible that he was
simply unable to rermember if in fact he had ever seen it.

iy 20. Recardless of whether or not Mock had seen Applicant's
o= Exhibit 49, the record of the aApplicant's trial reveals that-Mock
= F319 never made use of it during his cross-examination of Young or at

any other time during the proceedings ‘ } o

I > Neithe- does the record at the Applicant's trial
o effirratively reflect that Mock either asked for or was furnished

F320 °  with a copy of Applicant's Exhibit 45.

)

0




C194

C195

LSRR

L

! c196

- c197

5. Assuming without deciding that Applicant*s Exhibit 49
was actually tendered to cdefense counsel, the Court concludes that
defense counsel's failure to utilize it for impeachment purposes
as set forth above clearly constituted deficient performance
irasmuch as no sound trial strategy could have Lteen served by
deferse counsel's failure in this regard, Black v. State, supra;
Ex parte Guzmon, supras Ex parte wWalker, supra,

6. Assuming without deciding that Aprplicant's Exhibit 49
was actuvally tendered to cefense counsel, the Court concludes that
but for deferse counsel's dJdeficient performance in failing to
utilize it for {impeachment purpcses, a reasonable probability
exists that the outcome of the proceedings at the punishment stage
of the Applicant's trial would have been different, Ex parte
Guzmon, supra; Ex parte Walker, supray Cooper v. State, 769 5.W.2d

301 (Tex.App.--Fouston [lst Dist.]), 195837,

7. In seeking habeas corpus relief, the Applicant bears
the burden of proving his factual allegations by a preponderance
of the evidence. PEx parte Salimas, supra.

8. Because the Applicant has demonstrated by a
preponderance of the evidence that the State's failure to disclose
that impeachment material contained in Applicant's Exhibit {5,
evidence material to the Jury's resclution of the third special
jssue during the punishment stage of the Applicant's trial,
violated both state and federal due process considerations, or in
the alternative, that defense counsel's failure to utilize this
exhibit for impeachment purposes in the event that it had in fact
been disclosed to him denied him effective assistance of counsel,
the Court recommends that habeas corpus relief &s to this ground

be GRANTED.

(3]
N
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FINDINGS OF FACT

TAB6
FINDING PAGE NO. PARAGRAPH NO. | RECORD REFERENCE

F324 70 1 SF VIII, 80-85
F325 70 2 SF 111, 79, 131
F326 70 3 SF 111, 134-37, 304
F327 70 4 SF III, 137-39

_ F328 70 5 SF III, 139
F329 71 6 SF 111, 139-140
F330 71 7 SF I, 140-41
F331 71 8 SF III, 141
F332 71 9 SF 11, 143
F333 71 10 SFIII, 158
F334 71 11 SF 111, 303-04
F335 71 12 SF III, 304
F336 71 13 App. Ex. 31

‘ F337 71 14 _App. Ex. 31
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F334

F335

F336

F337

c198

ci199

Cc200

c201

c202

11. Although the ballistics report conducted by C.E.
Ancderscn and suktseguently analyzed by Floyd McDorald revealed that
the Ruger .22 depicted in State's Exhibit 17 could nat have fired
the bullet that killed the cecedent, Kyles stated that he would be
"surprised" if this finding were in fact correct. _—

12, If, however, it was true that the Ruger could not have
fired the fatal shot, Kyles admitted that it would have been
misleading to rave told the jury that State's Exhibit 17 either
was {n fact the murder weapon or locked like the murder weapon.

13, In urging the jury to find that the Applicant had fired
the shot that killed the cecedent, Kyles referred the jury during
his final argument, inter alia, to the testimony of C.E. Anderson.

14, Kyles also argued to the jury that Young had identified
the gun the Applicant had threatened her with "as being a cowboy

looking gun, a .22.°

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. In the interest of judicial economy., the Court hereby
incorporates by reference those Conclusions of Law which appear in
Sections A and B, supra.

2, It is axiomatic that the Fourteenth Amendment reguires
that a defendant's conviction be set aside when the prosecution
*although not scliciting false evidence, allows it to go
uncorrected when it appears.” Giles v, Maryland, 386§ U.S. €6
(1967).

3. Reversible error is also committed where the prosecutor
negligently or inadvertently fails to disclose evidence which may
excrerate the accused or which may be of material importance to
the cefense, even though it is not offered as testimony at trial
and even though defense counsel is not diligent in his preparatiocn
for trial. Crutcher v, State, supra; Means v. State, supra.

4. That Kyles professed an unawvareness that the ,22:
caliber Ruger depicted in State's Exhibit 17 was virtually
indistinguishable from & .357 when. viewed merely from a
photograghic side view is irrelevant as this knowledge that C.E.
Anderson, as a member of "the precsecution team® had of this
evidence is imputed to Kyles. Ex parte Adams, supray O'Rarden v.
State, supra. . - :

: 5. That Kyles was urnaware that Anderson had previously .
testified at the Eenry trial that State's Exhibit 17 could have
teen a .22, .357, or .38 caliber Landgun is irrelevant as the

—knowledge of both Xrocker and Anderson of this evidence is imputed

to Kyles. Ex parte Adams, supra; O'Rarden v, State, supra.

|
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6. If the prosecution's use of false or misleading
testimony could "in any reascnable likelihood have affected the
C203 judgrment ©f the Jjury"™ at either stage of the'p{oceedings, due
process regqguires the granting of a rew trial. Giglio v, United
States, supray; Ex parte Adams, supra,

. 7. In view of that other evidence from both the Henry

trial and the Applicant's trial tending to show that the Applicant

4 possessed a ,357 caliber weapon, the Court concludes that the jury
c20 would have found the State's case as to punishment "significantly
. less persuasive," cf. Schneble v. Florida, 405 U.S. 427 (1972),
? had the prosecution not rmace use of State's Exhibit 17 as set
5 forth above to convince the Jjury that the Applicant in fact
possessed the .22 caliber weapon capable of firing shot that

killed the dececdent. Ex parte Adams, supray Crutcher v, State,

§ supra; Ex parte Turner, 545 S.w.2d 470 (Tex.Crim.App. 1977]).
- 8. Having evaluated the circumstances surrounding the

i prosecution's use of State's Exhibit 17 during the Applicant's
{ c205 trial in the context of the entire record, the Court concludes
that the cumulative effect of the prosecution's misleading use of

State's Exhibit 17 during both the presentation of its case as
well as during final argument was egregious enough to undermine
confidence in the outcome of the proceedings at the punishment
stage of the Applicant's trial, United States v. Bagley, supras BEx
! parte Adams, supra; Ex parte Brandley, supra. -

9. Because the constitutional principle requiring the
} reversal of a defendant's conviction where the procsecution,
: although not soliciting false evidence, permits it to go
| c206 uncorrected when it appears, is mandated by both state and federal
constitutional due process considerations, the recommendation of
oy _ this Court is enforcing these rights "is not punishment of society
o for misceeds of a presecutor but avoidance of an unfair trial for
/ the accused." Brady v. Maryland, supra; Ex parte Adams, supra.

T : 10. In seeking halbeas corpus relief, the Applicant bears
— , the burden of proving his factual allegations by a preponderance -
c207 of the evidence. Px parte Griffin, supra. )

1l1. Because the 2Applicant has demonstrated by a
preponderance of the evidence that the circumstances surrounding
the prosecution's use of State's Exhibit 17 throughout the course

c208 of the Applicant's trial as set forth above violated those due
process consicderstions erbodied in both the Fourteenth Armendment
to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 19 of the
Texas Constitution, the Court recomends that hakteas corpus relief

2s to this ground be GRANTED, ‘

Can
- B
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F324

F325

F326

F327

F328

F329

F330

F331

F332

F333

C. THE PROSECUTIOR’S MISLEADING USE ¢~ STATE'S EXHIBIT 17

Eenry,

FINDINGS OF FACT

. 1. In the interest of Judicial econory, the Court hereby
incorporates by reference those Findings of Fact which appear in
Section A, supra.

2. Jchn Kyles admitted that he made no effort to secure
any portion of the statenment of facts from the trial-of John Dale
the Applicant's co-cefendarnt, to determine what those
he would call at

witnesses that

tte Arplicant's trial hag

rrevicusiy testified to at the Kenry trial.

3. In view of Arnderson's testimony at the Eenry trial that
.22, a ,357, or a ,38 caliber

State's Exhibit 17 coulé have been a

Lerndcun, Kyles

different caliber kandguns,

a&migted that it was somewkat misleading for
rndersen to have told the Jury during the Appiicant's trial that
State's £xhibit 17 was in fact a ,22 caliber handgun.

4. Kyles admitted that

: in view o©f Anderson's earlier
testimony that State's Exhibit 17 could have Leen any of three .

every State's witness who identified

State' Exhibit 17 as being like tke weapon the Applicant possessed
micht have been corrcborating their earlier identification of the

Applicant's gun as a ,357.

previously testified during the FKenry
17 couldé have been a .22, a .38, or a

have b

5. Kyles acknowledged that he used State's Exhibit 17 to
make the point that the Applicant had a .22 caliber hrandgun and
that he used Anderson's testimony to drive Lome this point to the

Sury during the Applicant's trial,

6. Kyles acknowledged that neither he nor any other member
of the precsecuticn team ever revealed to defense counsel that the
photograph ermbodied in State's Exhibit 17 that he used to advance
the contention that the Applicant fired the fatal .22 caliber
bullet was equally consistent with being a .357 caliber handgun.

7. Even if he been informed of this fact by C.E. Anderson,
Kyles would not have felt compelled to bring this fact to the
attention of defense counsel as he felt it was incumbent upon
defense counsel "to investigate exactly what type of weapons those
[in the photographic array)] were.”

8. VNeither did Kyles feel that it was his responsibility
to inform defense counsel of Anderson's prior testimony during the
Eenry trial that State's Exhibit 17 could have been a .22, a .38,
or a .357 caliber handgun "[als long as they were aware that Mr,
Ancerson was going to Le out expert,
opportunity to view our exhibits."

9. Kyles acmitted that

een broug

and as long as they had the

the fact that Anderson had

trial that State's Exhibit
«357 calikter handgun should— -

ht to the jury's attention during the Applican;'a

10, Kyles acdmitted that although Young weas neve;_asked. and
so ¢id not testify wkether the Applicant had a .22 caliber weapon,
Le had her cescribe his firearm as a cowboy style gun before

gettirg her to commit that it looked like Stateﬁs Exhibit 17.°

en

~
[
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FINDINGS OF FACT .

TAB 7
FINDING PAGENO. | PARAGRAPHNO. | RECORD MEMNCEH
F299 66 1 AX 18 '
F300 66 2 AX 49/SF VI, 17
F301 66 3 SF11I, 16
F302 66 4 SFIII, 22
F303 66 5 SF1II, 19
F304 66 5 SF 111, 22
F305 66 6 AX 49
F306 66 7 AX 20
F307 67 8 AX 28
F308 67 9 SF VII, 11-12
F309 67 10 AX 28/SF I, 230-31
F310 67 11 SF III, 209-11, 214-15
F311 67 12 AX 49 '
F312 67 13 AX 49
F313 67 14 AX 49
F314 67 15 AX 17
F315 67 16 SF VI, 121-22
F316 68 17 SF VI, 12224
F317 68 18 SF VI, 124
F318 68 19 SF VI, 268-70
F319 68 20 'SR
F320 68 21 SR
F321 68 2 SF VIII, 80-85
2 68 23 | SF VIII, 80-85
F323 68 24 SE VIIL, 80-85



B. NON-DTSCLOSURE OF THE SUPPLEMENT’ Y OFPFENSE REPORT
%

» FINDINGS OF FACT

1. On Janvary 23, 1985, Deborah Eubanks Young testifiead

> prosecution in the aggravated robb
I ery trial of John
F299 Eenry. the Applicant's co-deferdant. ¥ Dale

:
§
5
1
;

2. On February 13, 1885, Young was surmmoned to the Harris

County District Attorney‘'s Office to meet with prasascutor John

F300 Kyles and District Attorpey's Investigcator Jim Jackson as part of
the prosecution's pre-trial preparaticn for the Applicant's triale

; . 3. Kyles recounted that one of the purposes of thim

* meeting was to show & phLotographic array of firearms to Young tO

F301 determine if she woulé be eble to identify the type of firearm
trat the Aprlicant "was krown to carry.®

4. The photographic array Jackson put together and which
was shown to Young at this neetirg contained six guns including a
F302 ..22 caliber cowboy style gun, a .357 caliber weapon, and a

Derrirger.

5. Ky.es telieved that a photograrhic array was the

% fzirest opportunity to test Young's ability to icentify the weapon
| F303 tre Applicant had pcssessed.
5. 2ithough cowboy style guns cone in a nurber of
differernt caliters, the only cowboy style gun in tke photographic
F304 array Young viewed was the .22 caliber mocdel. .

6. After viewing the photographic array. Young identified

.what was eventually admitted at the Applicant's trial as State's

F305 Exhibit 17 [applicant‘s Exhibit 21] as a photograph of a weapon
*Just like" the one the Applicant had used.

‘7. When State's Exhibit 17 had teen previously offered and
enry, C.E. Anderson had

wd
4

" agmitted at the trial of John Dale &

[rTe—

F306 icentified it as being either a .357, a .38, or a .22 calibex
- firearm.
%E 8. During the Applicant's trial, Anderson testified that
= p307 the firearm depicted in State's Exhibit 17 was 2 .22 caliber Ruger
- style single action revolver.

9. 'After examining Anderson's ballistics report, Floyd

F308 McDonald, the Applicant's expert witness on firearms and
A ballisticéiconcluded that the weapon depicted in State's Exhibit

=1 17 could not have been the weapon that fired the fatal shot in
! this case because a Ruger style revolver has six "lands and
grooves™ and the bullet that killed the decedent had eight "lands

and grooves.”

= 10. McDonald's conclusion is consistent with the fact that..

. nmnderson's computer cearch to determine what weapons could have

F309 fired the fatal shot did mnt include the Ruger he had identified
ac State's cxhibit 17 at the Applicant’s trial.
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F310

F311

F312

F313

F314

F315

F316

F317

F318

F319

F320

11. Alt..ough he ultimately agreed wi:th Anderson‘s testimony
at the Applicant's trial, McDonald pointed out that it wotld be
extremely difficult to determine from a side view alone whether
State's Exhibit 17 was 2 .22 or a .357 caliber weapon.

127 After Young picked State's £xhibit 17 out of the
photocrarhic array. she was asked by Kyles if she knew the type
end caliber of the weapon shke had just jdentified as Laving been

used by the agplicant.

In response to Kyles' inquiry. Young stated that the
the Applicant pcssessed during the cormission of the
®"jarge caliber weapon, either a .38 or .357
sxrnew it was larger than a .22 caliber.*

13.
weapon
primary offense was &
caliter," and that she

14.

Jackson we

ffense Report" and
_as Zpplicant's Exhibit 49.

1s.

portion of ée
which sought,
pcssession or co
State

of tke

Defendant, or which might te

On February 25,
fense counsel'
{nter alia,
ntrol of the State ©
{nconsistent with the

which

is

1985,

styled

The statements Young race in the presence of Kyles and
re rmemorialized in a document
which was admritted at t

"Suppliesentary
Le evicdentiary Learing

the trial court granted that

s Motion for Discovery and Inspection

"xny evicdence oOr information in the
£ Texas or known to the agents

guilt of

the

7d to ameliorate the punishment of the

finding of guilt.”

(Erphasis accea).

sffirratavely reflect that Mock either askea.

Defendant in the event of a

Ron Mock initially

16. At the _evidentiary tearing,
d him with a copy of

testified that the prosecution never provicde
2pplicant's Exhibit 49 prior to trial.

17. Mock noted that it woulé@ have been extremely helpful to
have had Applicant‘'s Exhibit 49 at the Applicant's trial as it not
only would have vseful for purposes of impeaching Young, but to
generally discredit the State's-theory of the-case. _ .

the contents of Applicant's
during the punishment stage of
the jury that the third

18. Mock also noted that
Exhibit 49 would have been helpful
the Applicant's trial in convincing
special issue should be arnswered in the negative.

19. After testifying that he might have seen Applicant's

fxhibit 49 4if it was in the State's file, Mock again reaffirmed
his earlier testimony that he had never seen the exhibit before
acmitting that the passage of time made it possible that he was

simply uhable to remember if in fact he had ever seen it.

20. Recardless of whether or not Mock had seen Applicant's

Exhibit 49, the record of the Applicant's trial reveals that-Mock
never made use of it during his cross-examination of Young OI at

any other time during the proceedings . L

o .91... _ XKeithe- does the record at the Applicant’'s trial
for or was firnished

with a copy of Applicant's Exhibit 49.

o~
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17. Mock noted that it would have been extremely helpful to
have had Applicant‘s Exhibit 49 at the Applicant's trial as it not
only w6uld have useful for purposes of impeaching Young, but to
generally discredit the State's theory of the case.

is8. Mock also noted that the contents of Applicant's
Exhibit 49 would have been helpful during the punishment stage of
the Applicant's trial in convincing the 3jury that the third
special issue should be answered in the negative.

19. After testifying that he might have seen Applicant's
Exhibit 49 if it was in the State's file, Mock again reaffirmed
his e#rlier testimony that he had never seen the exhibit before
admitting that the passage of time made it possible that he was
simply unable to remember if in fact he had ever seen it.

20. Regardless of whether or not Mock had seen Applicant's
Exhibit 49, the record of the Applicant's trial reveals that Mock
never made use of it during his cross-examination of Young or at
any other time during the proceedings

21. Neither does the record at the Applicant's trial
affirmatively reflect that Mock either asked for or was furnished
with a copy of Applicant's Exhibit 489.

22. Had the State furnished Mock with a copy of Applicant's
Exhibit 49 or had Mock obtained due diligence to obtain it as a
prior statement of the witness during his cross-examination of
Young, he would have been able to elicit before the jury the fact
that only one cowboy style gun had been included in the array as
well as the difficulty in distinguishing between Ruger style .22

. and_ .357 caliber weapons based solely on a side wview in- a
photograph.

‘ 23. Had Mock been furnished with that testimony from the
Eenry trial that moments after the .primary offense, Young had
identified Alton Dickey's .357 pistol as the type of weapon the
Applicant hLad used, he would have been able to elicit before the
jury that such an identification was infinitely more reliable than.
that obtained’ from the photographic array viewed by Young and
memorialized in Applicant's Exhibit 49.

24.  Bad the State furnished Mock with a copy of Applicant's
Exhibit 49 or had Mock exercised due diligence in obtaining it, he
would have been able to use it to elicit before the jury, either
through cross-examination of Anderson or through his own expert
witness, that the weapon portrayed in State's Exhibit 17 could not
have fired- the fatal .22 caliber shot, a critical fact that Mock

never made. the jury aware of during the Applicant's trial.

68




FINDINGS OF FACT

TAB 8
FINDING PAGE NO. PARAGRAPH NO. | RECORD REFERENCE
F374 84 1 SFIII, 54, 57/SF VII, 131
F375 84 2 SF VII, 131-32
F376 84 3 SF I, 85-87
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F374

F375

F376

- €252

€253

c254

C255

€256

XIII. THE UNCONSTITUTIONALITY OP THE SYSTEM POR THE APPOINTMENT
OF COUNSEL FOR INDIGENT DEFENDANTS IN HARRIS COUNTY

FINDINGS OP PACT

1. The system for the appointment of counsel for indigent
defendants in Harris County pursuant to Article 26.04, V.A.C.C.P.,
did not impose any uniform minimum standards of competency for
appointed counsel and did not :impose any restrictions on the
volume of cases appointed counsel could handle.

2. Because the system for the appointment of counsel for
indigent defendants in FKarris County is largely, 4if not
exclusively an arbitrary decision ard unreviewable decision made by
each of the individual criminal cistrict judges, the quality of

.&éppointed trial counsel in capital murder cases is a function of
whatever district court to which the case is assigned at random.

3. At the time of the Applicant's trial, defense counsel
were corpensated only for actual court appearances and were not
directly compensated for out-of-court time devoted to activitieg
such as factual investigation of the case, 1legal research
regarcding the controlling issues, or consultation with experts.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

il. Where a defendant seeks to challenge the
constitutionality of a statute, he assumes the burden of
demonstrating how he, in particular, Las been harmed by the
statute., Clark v, State, 665 S,W.2d 476 (Tex.Crim.App. 1984).

2. In a post-conviction writ proceeding where the
aprlicant seeks habeas corpus relief, neither the trial court nor
the Court of Criminal Appeals is authorized to enter a declaratory
judgment, but may only inquire inte the legality of the
applicant's restraint or confinement.. Px parte EHerring, 271
S.W.2d 657 (Tex.Crim.App. 1554). 1 .

‘ 3. While many things about the system o©f appointing
counsel for indigent defendants in capital murder cases in Harris
County may be in need of change, the Court concludes that the
relief which the Applicant seeks must be sought in a civil rights
suit, see Preisser v, Rodriguez, 411 U.S. 475 (1573), and not in a
post-conviction writ proceeding such as this. See Px parte
Brager, 704 S,.W,2d 46 (Tex.Crim.App. 1986).

4. In seeking habeas corpus relief, the Applicant assumes
the burden of proving his factual allegations by a preponderance
of the evidence, Ex parte Salinas, supra. - i L

5., Because the Applicant has failed to demonstrate by a

T preponderance of the evidence that the alleged unconstitutionality .

of the system by which counsel for indigent defendants in Harris
County are appointed is a cleim upon which habeas corpus relief
may be grarted, the Court recommnends that habeas corpus relief as

to this ground be DENIED,

|
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COPY

May 12, 1997

BY TELECOPY & FEDERAL EXPRESS
Governor George W. Bush

P.O. Box 12428

Austin, Texas 78711

Re:  Supplement to Emergency Request for Reprieve of Death Sentence for Anthony
Ray Westley

Dear Governor Bush:

Enclosed for your review and consideration is a supplement to the emergency request
for a reprieve of a death sentence that is scheduled to be carried out at 6:00 p.m. tomorrow,
May 13, 1997. This supplement includes affidavits from the witnesses who spoke with John Dale
Henry in a tape recorded telephone conversation at approximately 12:20 a.m. this morning, in which
Henry confessed to shooting the man that Westley is slated to be executed for killing.

In addition to the other newly-discovered evidence of Mr. Westley’s innocence that has not
yet been considered by the Texas Board of Pardons & Paroles, this recent tape recorded confession
constitutes powerful evidence that the State is scheduled to execute the wrong man this evening.

Mr. Westley’s case presents you with both the responsibility and opportunity to affirm one
of the essential tenets of our legal system -- that no individual shall be put to death by the State,
without first exhausting all legal avenues available to demonstrate his innocence. To uphold that
cherished principle, I humbly request that you give the enclosed request your considered attention
and grant Mr. Westley a thirty day reprieve so that the Texas Board of Pardons & Paroles may
consider this newly-obtained evidence of Mr. Westley’s actual innocence.

Should the Governor of a great State like Texas do less than that, one reasonably expect that
when the public at large and responsible members of the bench and Bar listen to John Dale Henry’s
tape recorded confession and reflect on the fact that no Texas state official did anything to assure
that evidence could be thoughtfully developed and considered before Westley was put do death --
public respect for this State and its public officials will be, and rightfully should be, diminished.

Thank you in advance for your thoughtful consideration of this request.

Very truly yours,

Barry Abrams
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HONORABLE GOVERNOR GEORGE BUSH

ANTHONY RAY WESTLEY,
Applicant

SUPPLEMENT TO EMERGENCY REQUEST
FOR REPRIEVE OF DEATH SENTENCE

Anthony Ray Westley (“Westley”) is currently confined on death row by the Texas
Department of Criminal Justice and is SCHEDULED FOR EXECUTION TODAY,MAY 13TH,
1997, AFTER 6:00 P.M. C.S.T. Last night, Westley telecopied his emergency request for reprieve
of death Westley seeks a reprieve to allow him the opportunity to present to the Texas Board of
Pardons & Paroles the recently-obtained evidence that he is innocent of the murder for which is set
to die.

As set out in Westley’s emergency reprieve request, Westley’s claim of actual innocence is
grounded on newly discovered evidence of a confession by John Dale Henry (“Henry”), that /e, and
not Westley, actually fired the fatal .22 caliber bullet into the back of Frank Hall (“Hall”), the bait
store owner who died during the robbery in question. This supplement has been filed to alert the
Governor to the discovery early this moming of additional compelling evidence of Westley’s
actual innocence of the’murder. ‘At approximately 12:20 a.m. to 1:20 a.m. this morning, May 13,
1997 -- counsel obtained a tape recorded statement by John Dale Henry in Which he directly
admits that:

(a) he shot Frank Chester Hall; Westley did not shoot Hall;

(b) he, Henry, had a .22 caliber pistI, and Westley had a .357 caliber
pistol during the robbery in which Hall was killed; and



(c) Westley did not have a .22 caliber pistol during the robbery in
which Hall was killed.

See Attached Affidavits of Barry Abrams & Marie Walker. After so confessing, Henry then stated
to two other persons that although he would not confess to them on the telephone that he had
murdered Hall, he had earlier told Martha Dunbar “the truth” and that he would tell them the truth
about who shot Hall in person -- but would not do so over the telephone. See attached Affidavits of
Marie Walker and Tressa Walker. Henry also has confirmed to his own daughter that Westley did
not have a .22 caliber pistol during the robbery in which Hall was killed by a .22 caliber bullet. See
attached affidavit of Domonike Dunbar.

In light of Henry’s newly-discovered confession that he, not Westley, killed Hall — a
confession fully corroborated by compelling proof adduced in the first habeas proceedings that
Westley did not fire the weapon that killed Hall — it is beyond cavil that, but for the constitutional
errors committed at Westley’s trial, no rational juror could have found him guilty of capital murder
beyond a reasonable doubt and no rational juror could have answered in the State’s favor the special
issues on whether Westley deliberately killed Hall, a finding necessary to qualify Westley for the
death penalty under Texas law.

CONCILUSION

The prosecutor, defense counsel and state trial judge in Westley’s capital murder trial each
agreed that resolution of the triggerman issue in his case was determinative of whether Westley
would live or die. A state special master, the state trial judge who presided over Westley’s capital
murder trial, a federal magistrate, and a distinguished federal appellate judge have each concluded

that the integrity of that trial was irreparably compromised by the deficiencies of Westley’s trial



counsel and the accompanying misconduct by the state prosecution.

Westley’s counsel implores the Governor to review the newly-discovered evidence of John
Dale Henry’s confession to the murder for which Westley is slated for execution along with the
extensive state court fact findings from Westley’s habeas corpus hearing and, if that review leaves
the Governor with the same grave doubt about the fairness of Westley’s trial that was experienced
by eight of the state and federal judges who have previously reviewed Westley’s case, then
Westley requests that the Governor impart justice and exhibit mercy, by granting him a thirty day
reprieve so that the Board of Pardons & Paroles may consider the newly-discovered of Westley’s
actual innocence.

Respectfully submitted,

By:
Barry Abrams

OF COUNSEL:

ABRAMS SCOTT & BICKLEY, L.L.P.

Robert Scott

600 Travis, Suite 6601
Houston, Texas 77002
(713) 228-6601

(713) 228-6605 (Fax)



ALLISON & SHOEMAKER, L.L.P.

William B. Allison

7700 San Felipe, Suite 430
Houston, Texas 77063
(281) 290-9350

(281) 290-9625 (Fax)

Deborah Bagg Gee
1703 Lake Arbor Drive
El Lago, Texas 77586
(713) 326-2607



AFFIDAVIT OF BARRY ABRAMS

THE STATE OF TEXAS g
COUNTY OF HARRIS §

BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, on this day personally appeared Barry Abrams who, being by me duly

sworn, deposed as follows:

1.

My name is Barry Abrams. I am over eighteen years old, of sound mind, capable of making this Affidavit,
have personal knowledge of all of the facts stated in this Affidavit, and the facts are all true and correct.

I am one of the volunteer lawyers who has represented Anthony Ray Westley during post-conviction
proceedings since 1989. Iam an honors graduate of Princeton University and the University of Texas Law
School. I am a licensed lawyer in the State of Texas and have been admitted to practice before the United
States Supreme Court, the United States Courts of Appeals for the Fifth, Ninth and Eleventh Circuits, and
the United States District Courts for the Southern, Northern, Eastern and Western Districts of Texas and
the Northern District of California. I formerly served as a judicial clerk for the Honorable Joseph T.
Sneed, United States Circuit Judge for the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals.

Approximately two and one half weeks ago, I was contacted by Martha Walker Dunbar, who informed me
that she knew Lee Edward (“Tyrone”) Dunbar, John Dale Henry and Anthony Ray Westley in 1984; in
1984 she was married to Tyrone Dunbar; and that at the time of Tyrone’s death in April 1984, she was
pregnant with a child fathered by John Dale Henry. Mrs. Dunbar told me that she then knew Anthony Ray
Westley, because he was a friend of John Dale Henry’s sister.

Mrs. Dunbar also informed me that she knew that in April 1984, her husband Tyrone owned a .25 caliber
automatic pistol, John Dale Henry owned a .22 caliber pistol and Anthony Ray Westley owned a .357
caliber pistol.

Mrs. Dunbar further informed me that: John Dale Henry had recently been released on parole from his
earlier conviction for the aggravated robbery that took place in April 1984; since being paroled in the last
several months, John Dale Henry had gotten in touch with her with the request to visit his daughter -- the
child that she was then pregnant with in April 1984; during her conversations with Henry since the time
of his recent parole, Henry had told her on several different times that he, not Anthony Ray Westley, had
shot Frank Chester Hall; John Dale Henry has told her that he shot Frank Chester Hall in the back and that
Mr. Hall then turned and shot him (Henry); and John Dale Henry had specifically told her that he (Henry)
killed Mr. Hall and that Anthony Ray Westley did not do so.

When informed of this newly-discovered evidence of Anthony Ray Westley’s actual innocence of killing
Mr. Hall, I immediately retained a private investigator to assist in attempts to document Mr. Henry’s
admissions on tape for use in these proceedings. Between the date of my first contact with Mrs. Dunbar
and May 6, 1997, Mr. Henry did not speak with Mrs. Dunbar about the April 1984 incident. In view of
Anthony Ray Westley’s upcoming May 13, 1997 execution date, I secured the May 6, 1997 affidavit from
Mrs.Dunbar that was used to support Mr. Westley’s initial request for stay and second habeas application
that was filed on May 9, 1997. Diligent efforts to further document Mr. Henry’s admission to shooting Mr.
Hall have continued on a constant basis since that time.

At approximately 10:00 p.m. last night, May 12, 1997, I was informed that Mr. Henry had agreed to call
Mrs. Dunbar and to speak with various of her children shortly after midnight on May 13, 1997 -- the day
on which Mr. Westley is scheduled to be executed. At approximately 2:00 a.m. this morning, May 13,
1997, 1 was informed that Mr. Henry had telephoned Mrs. Dunbar and that during that tape recorded
conversation with various of her children, he had in fact again admitted that he shot Mr. Hall during the



April 1984 incident,

8. T have in my possession the audiotape recording containing the May 13, 1997 conversations between John
Dale Henry and Martha Dunbar, Marie Walker, Tressa Walker, Louise Walker and his daugher, Domonike
Dunbar. The audiotape recording in my possession is the tape recording referred to in the affidavits that
have now been provided my Marie Walker, Tressa Walker and Domonike Dunbar.

9. I have been informed that the various witnesses mentioned in this affidavit have contacted me because
they do not want to see an innocent man executed (Westley) for a murder that he did not commit, while
the guilty man walks free (Henry).

Further, Affiant saith not.

Barry Abrams

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO BEFORE ME on April 10, 2001.

Notary Public in and for The
Stateof TEX AS




NO. 401695-B

EXPARTE § IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF

ANTHONY RAY WESTLEY, g HARRIS COUNTY, TEXAS

APPLICANT § 339TH JUDICIAL DISTRICT
AFFIDAVIT OF MARIE WALKER

THE STATE OF TEXAS §

COUNTY OF HARRIS §

BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, on this day personally appeared Marie Walker who, being by me duly

sworn, deposed as follows:

1.

My name is Marie Walker. I am over eighteen years old, of sound mind, capable of making this Affidavit,
have personal knowledge of all of the facts stated in this Affidavit, and the facts are all true and correct.

John Dale Henry has recently been released on parole from his earlier conviction for the aggravated
robbery that took place in April 1984 when my stepfather, Tyrone Dunbar, was killed. I understand that
Anthony Ray Westley was convicted of capital murder for the death of a Mr. Frank Chester Hall, who was
shot and killed during the April 1984 robbery in which my stepfather was killed.

At approximately 12:20 a.m. on May 13, 1997, John Dale Henry telephoned my mother, Martha Walker-
Dunbar, and then spoke to me personally about the events that took place during the April 1984 incident
in which Mr. Hall was killed. My conversation with John Dale Henry was tape recorded. Ihave provided
the tape recording of my conversation to Anthony Ray Westley’s lawyers.

As is reflected in the tape recording of our conversation this morning, John Dale Henry specifically told
me at the beginning of our conversation that Frank Chester Hall shot him during the April 1984 incident
and that “after he shot me, I shot him [Hall].” Henry said that during that incident, Anthony Ray Westley
did not have a .22 caliber weapon but instead had a .357 caliber pistol. Henry also admitted that he had,
and fired, a gun during the incident and claimed that he only fired one shot -- the shot he admits firing into
Hall.

Later in our conversation, Henry said that he did not want to incriminate himself on the telephone and
therefore would not talk further on the telephone about his role in shooting Hall, but that we would do so
in person at a later date.

I also was on the telephone later during the conversation when my sister, Louise Walker, spoke with
Henry. I heard Henry tell Louise that he wouldn’t tell her on the telephone about who shot Hall but that
he earlier had told “Mama” [Martha Walker Dunbar] “the truth.” Henry also said that it had been “Hell”
to be in prison, that he would kill to keep from going back to the prison and that he would not talk further
on the telephone about who shot Hall.

Further, Affiant saith not.

Marie Walker

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO BEFORE ME on April 10, 2001.

Notary Public in and for The



State of TEX A S




COPY

May 12, 1997

BY TELECOPY & FEDERAL EXPRESS
Governor George W. Bush

P.O. Box 12428

Austin, Texas 78711

Re: Emergency Request for Reprieve of Death Sentence for Anthony Ray
Westley

Dear Governor Bush:

Enclosed for your review and consideration is an emergency request for a reprieve
of a death sentence that is scheduled to be carried out at 6:00 p.m. tomorrow, May 13,
1997. This request for a reprieve is based on newly-discovered evidence of Mr. Westley’s
innocence in the form of a confession by another person, who has admitted that ~e committed
the murder for which Mr. Westley is scheduled to be executed tomorrow night. I sincerely
implore you and your staff to give this request the thoughtful and serious consideration that it
deserves.

Anthony Ray Westley, has been represented for the past nine years by volunteer lawyers
from several respected Texas law firms who responded to the call of the State Bar of Texas to
provide pro bono representation to indigent inmates facing the death penalty. Before his
untimely death from Lou Gehrig’s disease, the Honorable Thomas Gibbs Gee, the respected
retired Fifth Circuit Judge, served as lead counsel for Mr. Westley.

Although his lawyers initially agreed to represent Mr. Westley out of a pure sense of
professional obligation, our investigation uncovered the startling facts that Mr. Westley had
both been denied effective assistance of counsel and the victim of prosecutorial misconduct.
After a lengthy evidentiary hearing and the publication of more than one hundred pages of
findings of fact and conclusions of law, the Judge of the court that originally convicted Mr.
Westley of capital murder recommended that he be granted a new trial. Without discussion, the
Texas Court of Criminal Appeals ignored that recommendation of the very court who had
presided over his original trial.

Thereafter, the respected United States Circuit Judge, Hal DeMoss, concluded that if
the binding state court findings in this case did not establish prejudicial constitutional error,
“there is no such animal” and “we should stop talking as if there is.” Westley v. Johnson, 83
F.3d 714, 729 (5th Cir. 1996)). The newly-discovered evidence of the confession by another



Governor George Bush
May 12, 1997
Page 2

party demonstrates the profound “prejudice” that Westley suffered due to his counsel’s failure
to defend him adequately at trial and the “materiality” of the evidence suppressed by the
State. ‘

Although the Texas Court of Criminal Appeals has been presented with the newly-
discovered evidence that someone other than Mr. Westley committed the murder for which he
is about to be executed, that Court denied Mr. Westley’s request for a stay at approximately
3:30 p.m. today -- again without offering any explanation for why the newly-uncovered evidence
of Mr. Westley’s actual innocence should not first be aired and thoughtfully considered before
his life is extinguished.

Before the State of Texas takes the life of one of its citizens, it is of fundamental
importance that all available procedures for reviewing the fairness of that action first be
exhausted. To do less creates an unacceptable risk that innocent men and women will be put
to death, without the ability to avail themselves of all of the Constitutional safeguards that the
people of this great State have put in place.

Mr. Westley’s case presents you with both the responsibility and opportunity to affirm
one of the essential tenets of our legal system -- that no individual shall be put to death by the
State, without first exhausting all legal avenues available to demonstrate his innocence. To
uphold that cherished principle, I humbly request that you give the enclosed request your
considered attention and grant Mr. Westley a thirty day reprieve.

Thank you in advance for your thoughtful consideration of this request.

Very truly yours,

Barry Abrams



